
Damian Allen
Chief Executive
___________________________________________________________________
Issued on: Wednesday, 13 February 2021

Governance Services Officer for this meeting Sarah Maxfield
Tel. 01302 736723

Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council
www.doncaster.gov.uk

Agenda
___________________________________________________________________

To all Members of the

STANDING ADVISORY COUNCIL ON 
RELIGIOUS EDUCATION (SACRE)
Notice is given that a Meeting of the above Committee is to be held as follows:

 
Venue:    Virtual Meeting Via Microsoft Teams

Date:       Thursday, 25th February, 2021

Time:      4.30 pm
____________________________________________________________________

The meeting will be held remotely via Microsoft Teams. Members and Officers 
will be advised on the process to follow to attend the SACRE Committee. Any
members of the public or Press wishing to attend the meeting by teleconference 
should contact Governance Services on 01302 736723/737462/736712 for further 
details.

BROADCASTING NOTICE
This meeting is being filmed for subsequent broadcast via the Council’s web 
site. The Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection Act and images
collected during this recording will be retained in accordance with the Council’s 
published policy.

Please be aware that by entering the meeting, you accept that you may
be filmed and the images used for the purpose set out above.Items for 
Discussion:

Public Document Pack



Items     Page No.

1.  Apologies for absence.  

2.  Declarations of Interest.  

3.  Minutes of the meeting held on 12th November, 2020.  1 - 4

4.  National Updates from RE Today: Spring 2021 - Lat Blaylock.  5 - 10

5.  RE Today: Collective Workshop Guidance - Lat Blaylock.  11 - 54

6.  Date and time of next meeting  

- Thursday, 1st July, 2021, at 4.30pm

Members of the Standing Advisory Council on Religious Education (SACRE) 

Chair – Councillor John Gilliver
Vice-Chair – Father Dan Parkinson, Assistant Curate Doncaster Minster

Councillors Lani-Mae Ball, Derek Smith and Jonathan Wood.

Rev Tom McCready, Doncaster Interfaith
Mr R Iball, Methodist
Mrs P Kaur, Sikh
Ms S Norburn, Humanist
Mr S Syed, Muslim
Mr B Teimoori, Baha’l
Lucy Saxton, Roman Catholic
Mary Sivaanbu, Hindu
Ms J Crowther, Church of England
Mr A Depledge, Church of England
Ms A Nicolson, National Union of Teachers
Mr T Griffiths, National Association of Head teachers
Ms Sally Faulkner, National Association of School Masters/Union of Women
Teachers
Ms Tara Moxon, National Education Union
Ms Danielle Heath - National Education Union



A. 1

DONCASTER METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL

 STANDING ADVISORY COUNCIL ON RELIGIOUS EDUCATION (SACRE)

THURSDAY, 12TH NOVEMBER, 2020

A  MEETING of the STANDING ADVISORY COUNCIL ON RELIGIOUS EDUCATION 
(SACRE) was held at the MICROSOFT TEAMS - VIRTUAL MEETING on 
THURSDAY, 12TH NOVEMBER, 2020, at 4.30 pm.

PRESENT: 
Chair – John Gilliver

Councillor Derek Smith and Sally Faulkner (Teacher Representative) 

Also in attendance:-

Paul Ruane  - DMBC, Head of Learning Provision
Sameena Choudry – DMBC, Learning Standards and Effectiveness Officer
Lat Blaylock – External, RE Today

11 Apologies for absence. 

Apologies for absence were received from the Vice-Chair, Father Dan Parkinson, 
Sandra Norburn, Tara Moxon and Pahani Kaur.

12 Quorum of the Meeting 

It was noted that there were not a quorum of Members in attendance at the meeting to 
hold an official meeting. However, it was agreed that the meeting would continue on 
an informal basis to consider the agenda, with all decisions formally ratified at the next 
Quorate meeting of the Committee.

 Announcement by the Chair 

The Chair informed the Committee that the Jewish Representative on the Committee, 
Carole Cahm, had recently resigned as she was relocating to live in another country. 
Councillor Gilliver placed on record his thanks to Mrs Cahm for her contribution to the 
Committee in the past and wished her well for the future.

AGREED that a letter of thanks on behalf of the Committee be sent to Mrs 
Cahm.

14 Declarations of Interest, if any. 

There were no declarations made at the meeting.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



A. 2

15 Minutes of the meeting held on 27th February, 2020. 

AGREED that the minutes of the meeting be approved as a true record.

16 Matters Arising 

Any updates farther to the information provided in the minutes was given with the 
following points raised:

 Collective worship – Luton and Wigan had produced guidance on this, and it 
was being reworked to be provide support to Doncaster Schools;

 It was noted that a number of actions had not been progressed during the past 
months since the last meeting, which was largely down to Covid, as stability 
was needed in education to move forward with a number of issues, and these 
would be deferred until a future date when schools were more settled again.

 Lat Blaylock had proposed a training date for the 3 December, 2020 and to 
date, uptake had been very low. Schools had been contacted directly, but again 
if there was no greater take up, this would be deferred until the spring term 
when hopefully things would be more settled.

 The Chair reported that they had been given funding to send two 
representatives to the SACRE Conference. However due to the impact of 
COvid-19, this had been held virtually and as the Members who had intimated 
they would attend, were not in attendance at the meeting, an update on this 
would be received at the next meeting.

17 SACRE National Update: Autumn 2020 

Lat Blaylock was in attendance at the meeting and provided the Committee with an 
update on Religious Education across the country. The following points were raised:-

 GCSE results – this had been an extraordinary situation and whilst there had 
been  1% fall in entries for Religious Education this was positive in comparison 
with the falls for History and Geography which were larger.

 Antiracist RE Project – this had been run through the Summer and around 700 
schools had picked up this project to promote a more positive outlook.

 Black History Month had been mirrored in Education with Black Religious 
History Month which was positive and a move in understanding the wider racial 
injustices across society.

 Covid-19 was widely spoken of in relation to its impact on schools. In terms of 
GCSEs in the coming year, schools had been alerted that they would need to 
evidence the grades of students as it was uncertain yet how final grades would 
be calculated.

 The Government Minister Nick Gibb had confirmed that it was important that 
Religious Education was still taught in schools throughout Covid.

 Additionally in relation to Covid-19, materials had been made available for 
students in Doncaster Schools who were self-isolating.

The update given by Lat was informative and interesting and provided a useful update 
for the Committee. 

Page 2



A. 3

Members had a discussion on the issues raised with some thought provoking points 
raised.

AGREED that the update provided be noted.

18 Key priorities for SACRE  in supporting educational settings during Covid-19 and how. 
(For Discussion) 

The Committee were provided with a presentation that informed Members on the key 
priorities in the coming months following the onset of the Covid-19 Pandemic since 
March 2020.

The pandemic had obviously caused a lot of turbulence and uncertainty within school 
settings, with many children out of education for a number of months, and moving 
forward the key priority was keeping schools open and ensuring as many children as 
possible were attending throughout this period.  It was important to safeguard 
vulnerable children and ensure that school remained a safe haven for them to go to.

A raft of measures had been put in to place to ensure that the mental health and well-
being of children was paramount, and it was noted the Religious Education had a key 
part to play in terms of this and helping children from reception through to 18 feel safe 
and make sense of the ongoing situation.

Religious Education aimed to provide emotional security, empathy and provoked 
critical thinking, which was an essential part of the recovery curriculum being 
undertaken in schools.

Discussions had been held previously with regard to identifying key priorities for 
SACRE in terms of supporting RE but presently, there were practicalities whilst Covid-
19 was ongoing in terms of how to address the priorities.

It was important that agreement was reached with regard to what schools should be 
doing for the remainder of the academic year and whilst it was unlikely that schools 
would be able to cover as much as normal, it would still enable schools to undertake 
some of the curriculum.

AGREED that the information be noted by the Committee.

19 Date and time of next meeting 

Some discussion was held with regard to future meetings of SACRE and it was 
acknowledged that the next meeting at least would be held virtually. This date would 
also be utilised to host the Primary Teacher Group meeting prior to SACRE.

AGREED that the next meeting of the Committee be held on 25 February, 2021 
at 4.30pm via Microsoft Teams.

CHAIR:                                                    DATE:                    

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

SACRE National Updates from RE Today: Spring 2021 
 
 

Government launches review into Faith Engagement 

From Gov.uk website: On 10 October 2019, the government announced that Colin Bloom had been 
appointed as the Faith Engagement Adviser at the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG). 
As Faith Engagement Adviser, Colin is leading a review into how best the government should engage 
with faith groups in England. He will make recommendations to the Communities Secretary about how 
the government can best celebrate and support the contribution of faith groups, break down barriers 
and promote acceptance between faiths, and promote shared values while tackling cultures and 
practices that are harmful. 
Colin Bloom’s initial proposal is to structure the review around 4 main sections: 

• the first section asks the question, “Are faith groups, places of worship and people of faith a 
force for good in society?” 

• the second section explores the extent to which government and its agencies have sufficient 
faith literacy and considers the partnership between faith groups and the State 

• the third section looks at some aspects where harm might be caused through religious or 
faith-based practices and a review of the government’s role in tackling them 

• the fourth and final section will be a set of recommendations for the government to consider 
and respond to 

This survey closed on 11th December 2020 SACRE will receive an update on the next steps in due 
course. 

Ofqual – consultation on proposed changes to GCSE and A level 
examinations 2021 

In light of the recent government announcement about the 2021 exams, NATRE has already been in 
contact with officials, and will continue to engage positively and constructively with both Ofqual and 
DfE as they consult about the replacement for exams. The consultation on the replacement for exams 
has not yet reported. 

 

Subject knowledge Enhancement 

Following the disappointing news that bursaries had been cut for most subjects including RE, it was 

really good news that Religious Education had been selected for funded subject knowledge 

enhancement courses. The funding will be available from April 2021 but hopefully will help support 

those people wishing to apply to teach RE who do not have a first degree in the subject. This decision 

follows intensive lobbying to make the point that about 84% of trainee secondary RE teachers do not 

have a degree in Theology or Religious Studies and therefore need support in developing their subject 

knowledge.  

https://getintoteaching.education.gov.uk/explore-my-options/teacher-training-routes/subject-

knowledge-enhancement-ske-courses 

 
Independent Evaluation of the Understanding Christianity Resource 
This report was published on 11th December. It presents findings and analysis from a study that 
examines the impact of Understanding Christianity in schools across England. The study, conducted by 
Dr Rachael Shillitoe at the University of Birmingham, seeks to evaluate the impact of RE Today’s 
Understanding Christianity teaching resources amongst pupils and teachers across primary and 
secondary schools, with a particular focus on schools without a religious character. 

This study aims to find out the extent to which the resource has ‘made a difference’ to teaching and 

learning about Christianity in RE.  

Page 5

Agenda Item 4

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/faith-engagement-adviser-appointed
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/faith-engagement-adviser-appointed
https://getintoteaching.education.gov.uk/explore-my-options/teacher-training-routes/subject-knowledge-enhancement-ske-courses
https://getintoteaching.education.gov.uk/explore-my-options/teacher-training-routes/subject-knowledge-enhancement-ske-courses


2 
 

“Overall, the response to Understanding Christianity has been extremely positive, from both pupils and 
teachers, particularly in relation to the ‘Big Story’, pupil engagement and increased teacher confidence. 
Both pupils and teachers noted, in particular, the impact the frieze had on engagement and 
understanding. Teachers found pupils had an increased awareness of the big story in Christianity and 
pupils demonstrated their ability to connect this to core theological concepts. 
 
Understanding Christianity was valued for its promotion of pupil agency and individual reflection. Both 
teachers and pupils found the lessons to be inclusive with pupils from a range of religious and 
nonreligious backgrounds finding the lessons enjoyable and accessible. Pupils felt their lessons 
encouraged discussion, individual reflection and debate with a range of different viewpoints 
considered.  
There was considerable/noted improvement of textual understanding and knowledge of core concepts 
after using Understanding Christianity. The ability of pupils to articulate, discuss and reflect on core 
theological concepts was significantly improved when the Understanding Christianity resources, such as 
the Big Frieze and the Core Concept icons were used.” 

 

The full report can be viewed on the Understanding Christianity website, available here. 

 

RE Today is really pleased to be moving into a new phase of working with the resources of 

Understanding Christianity, focusing on delivery to community schools. We have done some  successful 

fundraising and have generous funds to support new school users of the resource during the next 

three years. This money will mean that we can offer thousands of primary and secondary community 

schools and academies hugely discounted prices to be trained in using Understanding Christianity in 

their schools – typically this may cost a school just £60 instead of up to £300. This is an excellent 

resource and a great opportunity for schools to get on board. This year courses have been offered 

online and they are going down really well as you can follow the trainer then use break-out rooms to 

have a more in-depth discussion. 

 

Please note that this could bring funds into Doncaster schools via SACRE from charitable sources. 

Should we offer this to our schools? It will support our Agreed Syllabus. 

 

Conversations about religious literacy: creativity and the classroom 
The Lincoln Diocesan Board of Education (LDBE) is curating and working with the support of Culham St 

Gabriel's to deliver a national arts and RE symposium to be held virtually on the 23 February 2021. 

The Symposium is the first of its kind in the UK to bring RE teachers, creatives and policy makers 

together to specifically focus on the potential impact of creative processes on the development of 

religious and worldviews literacy. It has at its heart the experiences of LDBE, whose devising and 

delivery of the REConnecting Lincolnshire project over the past four years resulted from the identified 

need to address significant concerns and frustrations from schools and their wider communities in 

relation to religious and worldview literacy. 

 

Those engaged in research, teaching and supporting schools to deliver effective RE will have a voice as 

part of the discussions that will take place during the Symposium. 

The details of the event can be found here; Zoom login details will be sent through when you have 

confirmed your booking. Please do feel free to share this information with colleagues and within your 

networks. 

If you are able to attend the Symposium, please emailing David Lambert 

at david@culturalsolutions.co.uk by the 5th February 2021. For any further information about the 

project and its impact, please email Gillian Georgiou at gillian.georgiou@lincoln.anglican.org. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 6

http://www.understandingchristianity.org.uk/
http://www.understandingchristianity.org.uk/the-project/project-evaluation-understanding-christianity/
http://www.reconnectlincs.co.uk/
https://www.lincolndiocesaneducation.com/attachments/download.asp?file=246&type=pdf
mailto:david@culturalsolutions.co.uk
mailto:gillian.georgiou@lincoln.anglican.org


3 
 

NATRE curriculum symposium 
NATRE are excited to announce that we will be running a 24 hour residential curriculum symposium in 
Autumn. We have been planning to run this for almost a year but took the decision to wait until it can 
be run as a face to face event as we want to create a curriculum learning community.  
There will only be 25 places for delegates therefore we will be running an application process as we 
want to attract delegates from a variety of school types and at a variety of stages on their curriculum 
design journey for RE/Religion and worldviews.  
As part of the symposium we will hear from both experts and practitioners in the area of curriculum 
design generally and curriculum design in for RE/Religion and worldviews. As part of the process there 
will be tasks to complete before the symposium that will be shared with other delegates to prepare for 
our time in the learning community. There is also an expectation that all delegates will provide a write 
up of their learning and subsequent curriculum development in early 2022. 
Parts of this event will be filmed and written up so that this symposium, or aspects of it, can be 
replicated in NATRE local groups, departments and local hubs. This face to face event and the 
subsequent legacy materials for use by others is generously supported by Westhill and CSTG.  
 
Curriculum Symposium Expression of Interest Survey (surveymonkey.co.uk) 
 
How can we encourage our schools to consider this event? 
 

New NATRE National Executive 
It is exciting that after elections for the new NATRE executive last year the first (virtual) meeting of this 
group of RE activists took place. The executive is made up of mainly practising teachers and the group 
is made up of a balance of primary and secondary teachers. Please take a look at the NATRE executive 
web page to see who is representing teachers. 
 
NATRE is primarily a responsive organisation.  This is a necessary result of the chiefly voluntary capacity of our 
work, and the often fast changing educational environment in which we work. 
However, alongside this responsive work, we aim to prioritise certain tasks and projects over the course of the 
life of an Executive Committee. 
Below you will read the principal aims, objectives and outcomes which frame our work. 
 
Aim: NATRE aims to support the development of high quality teaching and learning in RE/Religion and 
Worldviews for all pupils in all schools 
 
Key objectives: 

1. To support and improve classroom practice 

This includes promotion of the understanding and application of substantive, disciplinary/ways of 

knowing and personal knowledge in RE, support for quality, efficacy and understanding of medium and 

long-term planning, improving teacher subject knowledge and awareness of research amongst teachers. 

2. To influence the influencers 

We will focus on promoting informed conversations about the National Plan for RE  and lobby 

government and other stakeholders about the need for action to strength the level and quality of 

provision of RE. Continuing our work to campaign broadly to improve public perception and develop 

more appreciation of the nature of RE and its importance in a broad and balanced curriculum. NATRE will 

continue to challenge government and others to invest in raising the standard of the workforce: to 

ensure all children in all schools are taught by well trained and qualified teachers whilst also providing 

support for teachers of RE working to secure space for religious education in school curriculums:  

3. To increase membership of NATRE 

We will particularly work to promote the value of NATRE membership in ‘hard-to-reach’ schools, including 

primary, secondary, ITE. 

4. Develop fit for purpose structures and processes 

This work will include support and development of NATRE local groups. 

 
 
 

Page 7

https://www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/sympo-expression-of-interest-21


4 
 

 
Free Lockdown home learning from NATRE and RE Today 
As a response to the amazing work that teachers and school staff are doing teaching pupils both in 

school and remotely NATRE and RE Today would like to offer our support by making all the home 

learning resources that were created for use by NATRE members in the last lockdown free to all 

schools. These multi-faith resources are all available on our website and offer support for home 

learning about religious and non-religious worldviews for primary and secondary school pupils. 

We will be offering further support by creating more member and free home learning resources over 

the next few weeks. 

www.natre.org.uk/about-natre/free-resources-for-you-and-your-pupils/ 
 
How can we share this information with our schools? 
 

“Good News for Everyone (formerly known as 

Gideons) has worked with RE Today to develop a range of 
free resources for school assemblies and lessons: “All our 
visitors to schools have been trained by Lat Blaylock of 
NATRE. The offer of a free copy of the New Testament and 
Psalms (now including the Book of Proverbs) to pupils is a 
benefit to schools as it helps to ensure that all pupils know 
about and understand a range of religious beliefs.”  Here’s 

the link: https://goodnewsuk.com/node/778  

For many years we have been invited to speak to school pupils at school assemblies and lessons, and 
offer each pupil a copy of the New Testament and Psalms.  That offer still exists.  If you are in a school 
that we have not visited, either as a teacher, a governor, or in any other capacity, and would like 
suitably qualified members to come and speak at an assembly in your school and offer Testaments to 
pupils, or if you would like to know more about what we offer please fill in the contact form via the 
link, and we’ll be in touch.” 

Anti-racist RE – free project resources from NATRE for primary 
and secondary schools 
NATRE and RE Today, working wit the Free Churches Group and Methodist Schools are launching a 

project to help teachers tackle racism in RE lessons. The project aims to: 

• Enable a team of 60+ black, Asian and minority ethnic teachers of RE and members of different 

communities to articulate perspectives on the contributions of RE to anti-racist education, accessible 

for all teachers of RE 

• Provide challenging and well planned resources, case studies, plans and lessons for teachers of RE in 

both primary and secondary schools to use in RE that challenge and confront racism and are also 

good RE, mounted and free from web platforms hosted both by RE Today and by the Free Churches 

Group and the Methodist Schools. 

• Create a forum for teacher education and development in relation to anti-racist RE, recognising that 

practice in RE in this area is patchy and inconsistent (also online) 

• Disseminate better practice in anti-racist RE widely, using the wide range of contacts and networks 

available to RE today 

Wide partnerships to maximise the impact of the project have been used, including for example with 

NATRE and the Jo Cox Foundation. Teachers can  access a planned unit of six topics for primary and of 

8 topics for secondary RE, including ready to use resources and a wide range of support materials. 

www.natre.org.uk/anti-racist-RE  Can our SACRE publicise this to schools? Primary training is being 

offered on this in the network meeting- should we run a session for secondary teachers? 
 

Page 8

http://www.natre.org.uk/about-natre/free-resources-for-you-and-your-pupils/
https://goodnewsuk.com/node/778
http://www.natre.org.uk/anti-racist-RE
https://goodnewsuk.com/node/778


5 
 

Art in Heaven 2020 and 2021 
▪ The 2020 Art in Heaven and Spirited Poetry competitions attracted record entries – lots of teachers 

set it in lockdown! flagship for ‘Spirited Arts’, our strategy to make RE more imaginative and 
creative. 

▪ The latest website update is excellent – take a look! The relaunched 2020 section includes many 
amazing responses to last year’s themes, and our YouTube video to encourage entries had about 
15000 views last year.  We will be doing another of these for 2021.  

▪ A Climate Justice theme features again this year: ‘God’s good earth?’ The most popular theme, 
overtaking the hardy perennial ‘Where is God?’ 

▪ We have international interest – e.g. from Indonesia, Poland, Australia, India, South Africa, Ireland, 
Cyprus and New Zealand. 

 
 

Promote further study to examination classes with these films of Graduates in 
Theology and Religious Studies 
To study for a degree in Theology or Religious Studies is to open up a vast range of options for 
worthwhile careers.  TRS-UK is launching a set of recently-filmed interviews with TRS graduates in jobs 
as varied as television documentary-making, law, local government, public relations, education, and 
many more.  These high-quality YouTube films are to be made available as ten individual (3-minute) 
filmed interviews and two 5-minute compilations, where graduates speak about the value of their 
degrees and show how they put their skills and knowledge to work in their jobs.  They do not advertise 
a specific University, only the value of the degree and the doors it has opened for them. 
 
These films (which can be selected at 
will) would be ideal for showing to 
pupils wondering about taking a 
degree in this subject, but unsure 
about where it might lead, or 
pressured to answer that question by 
parents.  The answer is: it could take 
you in a myriad of exciting directions, 
and employers are intrigued and 
delighted to have applicants with a 
degree in this subject.  TRS graduates 
have some of the highest employment 
rates of any University graduates, as 
they acquire multiple skills and a 
varied knowledge-base that is crucial 
for navigating our complex world.   

There are ten individual profiles and two compilations.  

View careers playlist 
YouTube TRS-UK 
 

 
 

Page 9

https://www.youtube.com/playlist?list=PLbMnuGeZDyL25MP7Epxwpsnc1ots54K4W
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC2rWLXgsU6fzz4P3o9OBz2A


6 
 

 

 

 

The Culham St Gabriel’s Leadership Programme: Finding your voice as 
a leader of Religion and Worldviews 2021-22 

Following a successful pilot programme in 2020-21 CSTG are now inviting applicants to be part of a 

new Cohort of Leaders for Change in 2021-22. This is an amazing opportunity for teachers. 

Programme Outline 

The funded programme aims to develop leaders in the following four areas; research, curriculum, 

classroom and politics 

Programme Partners 

The programme builds on the hugely successful AREIAC Revitalise scheme. It is funded by Culham St 

Gabriel’s and the Jerusalem Trust. It brings together the following organisations who all have 

representatives on the steering group which oversees the programme: 

• Association of RE Advisers, Inspectors and Consultants (AREIAC) 

• Association of University Lecturers on RE (AULRE) 

• Learn, Teach, Lead RE (LTLRE) 

• National Association of SACREs (NASACRE) 

• National Association of Teachers of RE (NATRE) 

• RE Council of England and Wales (REC) 

Stage 1 

This stage is for those local or regional leaders who are beginning to work across more than one 

school. For example, leading Religion and Worldviews across a MAT or supporting other schools in a 

Federation and/or leading a local group or hub. Some NATRE Regional Ambassadors, SLEs, REQM Gold 

award RE leads or LTLRE Hub leads might find this Stage of CPD helpful. 

Stage 2 

This Stage is for teachers who have completed Stage 1 and/or for those who already have a 

regional/national role and would like to develop their expertise further. This stage is particularly for 

teachers/advisers who are likely to continue their specialism into senior leadership roles within or 

outside of their school situation. Those who are seeking to become advisers, ambassadors or an 

Executive member of one of the RE Organisations are particularly encouraged to apply. 

Please go the website for more details, participant guides and the application form. Applications need 

to be in by March 31st. Find out more on the RE:Online website. 

 

Page 10

https://www.reonline.org.uk/leading-re/leadership/leadership-programme/


 

 

DONCASTER SACRE GUIDANCE 

COLLECTIVE WORSHIP 
Written for SACRE and all Doncaster Schools, December 2020. 

 

 

 
7 year old Hafsa created this mug of peace. 

“Keep peace everyone. Work together. If we 
do, we’ll keep peace.” 

 
Emelia, 10, writes: “I have drawn the world 
because we all live on it, and I have picked 

these words because they are true.” 

 

  

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



2 
 

CONTENTS 
 

1. The SACRE Policy for Collective Worship 3 

2.  The value and purpose of collective worship in the life of the school 5 

• The nature and purpose of school collective worship 

• Aims of collective worship 

 

• Legal requirements 

• When is it assembly and when is it collective worship? 

 

3. Policy and planning 10 

• SACRE Policy statement on collective worship 

• Developing a school policy for collective worship 

 

• Principles of planning for collective worship  

4. Themes, strategies and approaches 14 

• Suggested themes 

• Guidance on breaking down a theme 

• Planning, recording and evaluating individual acts of collective worship 

 

• Strategies for collective worship 17 

• Creating the right atmosphere and attitude 21 

• Classroom worship 23 

5.  Visitors 

• Examples of guidance for visitors 

 

24 

6. Management issues 27 

• Roles:  

• Head teachers 

• Governing bodies 

• The collective worship co-ordinator or team 

• Activities:   

• Reviewing collective worship 

• Auditing collective worship 

• Monitoring and evaluating 

 

7. Resources 

(To be added: examples from Doncaster Schools) 

 

31 

8. Appendix 

Planning grid 

32 

9. Acknowledgments 

 

33 

Page 12



 

DONCASTER SACRE COLLECTIVE WORSHIP POLICY AND GUIDANCE 

Collective Worship: Advice from SACRE 
 This advice seeks to promote among Doncaster LA schools two things: 
• Meaningful collective worship which positively contributes to the spiritual, moral, social and 

cultural life of the school and development of its pupils; and 
• Compliance with the law. 

The contribution of collective worship to school life 

By providing good quality collective worship, a school can build an inclusive ethos around shared 
purposes and values, making a significant contribution to the spiritual, moral, social and cultural 
development of each student and to a thriving learning community. 

What is the aim of Collective Worship? 

The DfES circular 1/94 gives the current advice of the Department on collective worship. It clearly 
sets out the aims of collective worship in the mind of the government: 

Collective worship in schools should aim to provide the opportunity for pupils: 

• to worship God 

• to consider spiritual and moral issues and to explore their own beliefs 

• to encourage participation and response, whether through active involvement in the 
presentation of worship or through listening to and joining in the worship offered, and 

• to develop community spirit, promote a common ethos and shared values, and reinforce 
positive values 

(Paragraph 50)  

Additionally, collective worship offers breathing space for pupils and staff in a school to reflect 
together on what is important in life, and on what it is to be human, and be inspired by some of 
the best things that humans can accomplish, as well as how they can live together well. Collective 
worship allows causes for joy or sorrow to be experienced collectively. It is an event in the school 
day which offers time for the spirit – a time to be, rather than do….  

In this sense collective worship is something which should be distinctive in the life of the school 
and should provide particular sorts of experience for pupils which are different to what they 
would get in a lesson as part of the curriculum. 

SACRE recognises that there is no ‘recipe’ that constitutes an act of collective worship and as 
such acts will be different in different schools and contexts. Nevertheless, the DfES’s aims 
provide a good basis for asking whether or not an act of collective worship has occurred or 
whether the activity could be better described as an assembly. Indeed Circular 1/94 clearly states 
that ‘collective worship and assemblies are distinct activities’ (Paragraph 58) although it 
recognises that both might occur as part of the same gathering. 

 
  

Page 13



2 
 

The Law: 
Community Schools 
These are the schools for which SACRE has responsibility and the current legislative framework 
was originally set out in the 1988 Education Reform Act and reiterated in the 1996 Education Act. 
Summarised the main points are as follows: 
 

• There must be a daily act of worship for every pupil. This can be at any time of the day in any 
normal school grouping. It is the responsibility of the Head Teacher, after consultation with 
the governing body to ensure this happens. Except in special circumstances, and after 
consultation with governors, the act of worship should take place on school premises. 
Collective worship is distinct from assembly which can be a gathering for a wide variety of 
reasons. 

• The majority of the worship must be wholly or mainly of a broadly Christian character, 
meaning it should reflect the broad traditions of Christian belief. It can contain non-Christian 
elements or on occasions contain no Christian elements, provided that throughout each term, 
the majority of the worship complies with the broad traditions of Christian belief.  

• Worship must be appropriate to the ages, aptitudes and family backgrounds of the pupils. 
Worship must not be denominational. 

• The basic requirement is that there should be an act of collective worship for all registered 
pupils every school day. (Section 385.1 EA 1996). There are only two exceptions to this: 
parents have the right to withdraw their child(ren) from all or parts of collective worship and 
pupils in school sixth forms are permitted to decide for themselves whether to attend or not. 

 
Church Schools, Free Schools and Academies 
It is important at the outset to make clear that the following explanation of the legal 
requirements does not apply to voluntary aided and controlled church schools. They have to 
provide daily worship like all other schools, but they do not come under the remit of the SACRE 
collective worship advice. They should seek guidance from their diocese. 
Obligations in relation to collective worship for academies should be set out in their funding 
agreements. 
 
Withdrawal 
The rights of parents to withdraw their children from collective worship (and RE) has been 
enshrined in legislation since 1944, and continues to be the case, the school cannot refuse such a 
request, and parents are not obliged to state their reasons. Parents can, therefore, refuse an 
invitation to discuss the matter with the Head Teacher, but it would be hoped that the Head 
would seek to ascertain the nature of the objection in case it rests on misunderstanding. School 
have an obligation to provide proper supervision of any pupils withdrawn. 
 
In maintained schools no pressure, direct or indirect, may be legally exerted at the time of 
appointment or thereafter to require or persuade any teacher to participate in or contribute to 
any act of worship. This applies also to any Head teacher, but he/she is responsible for arranging 
worship, after consultation with the Governing Body. Heads must ensure that provision is made 
for worship to take place and that the health and safety of pupils is paramount. 
 
SACRE would ask any teachers currently exercising their right of withdrawal, or thinking of so 
doing, seriously to consider both the intention of the legislation and the implications for the 
school community as a whole. No teacher need feel threatened by a professional commitment. It 
should be remembered that the act of collective worship is different from assembly. Assembly 

Page 14



3 
 

may be described as a gathering for the purposes of notices, announcements, and administrative 
arrangements relating to the organisation and management of the school. 
 
There is no legal right of withdrawal from assembly. 

There's nothing in the law to say that pupils must be set other work by the school.  It is possible, 
with the backing of the headteacher and governing body, to indicate that the school's policy is to 
arrange unsupervised seating if the child is out of the class (or they can be supervised inside the 
classroom) and to request parents to set alternative work from their own religious perspective. 

This assumes that reasons for withdrawal are religious - which was the apparent intention of the 
law in 1944. It puts the onus on the parent and draws parents' attention to the seriousness of the 
planning implication of what they are doing, and its isolating effect on the child. It doesn't 
commit the school to any expenditure of effort and time. 

In general, it is recommended that schools put a line in their prospectus about this: 'While 
parents have the right to withdraw their children from RE, the school provides an open hearted 
and open-minded approach to religion and does not support selective withdrawals. Parents 
considering exercising this right are invited to discuss their concerns at school, and to consider 
what alternative work they will provide for their children.' This, if in the prospectus when parents 
join the school, gives a sound basis for a professional discussion.  

Exceptions and Determination 

In some schools, for religious reasons, collective worship that ‘reflects the broad traditions of 
Christian belief’ is deemed to be inappropriate for its pupils. In some cases, it is possible for a 
school to apply for a determination. The procedure does not lift the duty to provide daily 
collective worship; it allows for the requirement that collective worship should be ‘wholly or 
mainly of a broadly Christian character’ to be lifted. Applications for determination are made to 
the relevant body by the Head Teacher after consultation with the parents and the school’s 
governing body. Traditionally it has been a function of the SACRE to receive and ‘determine’ 
whether such requests are valid, either granting or refusing them and this still applies in the case 
of community schools without a religious character. The body now responsible for this function 
for Free Schools and Academies is the Education Funding Agency (EFA). All determinations last 
for five years. 

Application Form for a Determination – see Appendix C 

How is worship, to be defined? 

Circular 1/94 is quite clear on this issue too, worship has its ordinary meaning: ‘it must in some 
sense reflect something special or separate from ordinary school activities and it should be 
concerned with reverence or veneration paid to a divine being or power’ (Paragraph 57). The 
Circular does, though, recognise that what happens in a school is not what will happen in a faith 
community as the nature of school is different. 

What about prayer? 

Prayer is an enriching part of human life and certainly there is an expectation that prayer will be 
one of the features of collective worship in their school and how its role might be enhanced. 
Prayer is often understood as the way that humans can articulate their gratitude, their hopes and 
fears and by bringing these to the fore be better equipped to deal with them in a positive way. An 
alternative to prayer in an act of collective worship might be the singing of a hymn or a time of 

Page 15



4 
 

reflection, nevertheless there should be some reference to a ‘divine being or power’ during the 
act. 

Collective worship should be a formative and nurturing experience. Prayer, singing and silence 
should be encouraged and can be expected. There is a significant role for silent reflection and for 
contemplation in collective worship, something often missing in many schools. 

What is a ‘broadly Christian character’? 

Not every specific act of collective worship must be of a broadly Christian character but that over 
a term the majority should be. So what is this ‘character’? The answer is given by the DfES in 
paragraph 60-67 Circular 1/94. Here are some key points from the Advice: 

• broadly Christian reflects the traditions of Christian belief but are not specific to one 
denomination 

• it must contain some elements which specifically relate to the traditions of Christian belief 

• at times it must accord special status to Jesus Christ 

• it should reflect the needs of parents and should be inclusive enough to accommodate the 
needs of all families – hence each headteacher needs to know and understand the 
school’s intake and aim to meet identified needs 

Broadly Christian in this sense would mean that schools should explore themes such as Creation, 
Fall, Salvation, Justification, Redemption, Sanctification and Faith, Hope and Love in terms that 
are age and development appropriate and ideally linked to the pattern of the Christian year. But it 
also means that worship should not be identified with a particular Christian tradition and include 
the breadth of denominational life found in Doncaster. 

  

Page 16



5 
 

THE DONCASTER GUIDANCE AND SUPPORT MATERIALS 

INTRODUCTION: THE BEST OF SCHOOL ASSEMBLY AND SCHOOL WORSHIP 
There is a wealth of excellent practice in schools’ collective worship in Doncaster.  However, many schools 

request further advice and help in this area, and it is in response to these that SACRE is pleased to 

commend this new guidance. 

The current law on collective worship in schools is governed by the 1988 Education Reform Act, with the 

corresponding guidance offered in Circular 1/94.  SACRE recognises the contentious nature of the 

legislation, especially for many secondary schools.  The debate has continued over recent years, notably 

with various proposals for new ways forward from the RE Council for England and Wales, the National 

Association of SACREs and the UK InterFaith Network, requesting regular rather than daily acts of 

collective worship.  At present, however (in 2018), there seems no prospect of change to the law from the 

DfE. 

 

Whilst SACRE acknowledges that some schools find the legal requirements constraining, we firmly believe 

in the great value of collective worship.  Done well, as it is in so many schools, it offers a worthwhile and 

distinctive contribution to the ethos and values of the school, as well as giving opportunities for enriching 

the experiences of pupils.  If there were no such thing as a school assembly, many school communities 

would invent it! SACRE has produced the following guidance in order to encourage and facilitate the 

further development of high quality collective worship in your school, as part of your provision of school 

assemblies. 

Doncaster SACRE would welcome case studies of good practice in school worship, which we will share on 

the Local Authority website. If you would like to write a case study, then please contact the Local 

Authority / SACRE 

 
Salaiman, 7, designed his peace shirt 
to show that ‘together we can have 
peace.’ 

Page 17



6 
 

 

Page 18



7 
 

WHAT IS THE POINT OF SCHOOL ASSEMBLY OR SCHOOL WORSHIP? 

 
• Staff developmental activity: in threes, discuss ~ which of these do you think 

are most useful, most controversial, most relevant to your pupils, firmly in 

place, innovative, useful? 

• If some are missing from your programme, how could they be included?

Good school 
assemblies…

Provide 
opportunities for 
pupils to worship 
God (voluntary, of 

course)

Provide 
opportunities for 

the school to 
celebrate together

Provide 
opportunities for 
spiritual, moral, 

social and cultural 
development

Communicate the 
values of the 

school community 
to pupils

Open up young 
minds to global 
learning about 

beliefs and values

Enable pupils to 
think for 

themselves about 
big questions

Provide 
opportunities for 

pupil participation 
and leadership 

through interactive 
events

Page 19



8 
 

2.  THE VALUE AND PURPOSE OF COLLECTIVE WORSHIP IN THE LIFE 

OF THE SCHOOL 

 

The nature and purpose of collective worship 

 

Why do we have collective worship in schools? 

 

It is, of course, a legal requirement (see over) but we at SACRE believe that its value extends so much 

further. 

Collective worship can both reinforce and contribute to the ethos of the school, in addition to offering a 

unique occasion in the school day to pause and explore life beyond the prescribed curriculum. 

It encourages members of the whole school community, teachers and learners together, to challenge 

assumptions and reflect upon issues which transcend normal day to day experiences, thus broadening 

understanding and contributing to our search for meaning in life.  By enabling pupils to acknowledge the 

value of diversity in terms of race, gender, culture and differing abilities, it fosters inclusion and breeds 

tolerance. 

 

Furthermore, whilst allowing those with religious commitment to enter into worship, those who have no 

such commitment are offered an opportunity to sense what worship can mean. 

 

Government guidance circular 1/94 (still officially in force in 2018, and unamended) states: 

 

Collective worship in schools should aim: 

 

• to provide the opportunity for pupils to worship God, to consider spiritual and moral issues and to 

explore their own beliefs; 

• to encourage participation and response, whether through active involvement in the presentation 

of worship or through listening to and joining in the worship offered; and 

• to develop community spirit, promote a common ethos and shared values, and reinforce positive 

attitudes. 

 

Legal requirements 

 

Daily 

All community, foundation or voluntary schools, other than Pupil Referral Units, are required by law to 

provide a daily act of collective worship.  Special schools should secure daily collective worship as far as is 

practicable. 

Wholly or mainly of a broadly Christian character 

All pupils should take part in an act of worship which is ‘wholly, or mainly of a broadly Christian character’ 

in some appropriate grouping at some point in the day – unless they have been withdrawn by their 

parents.  The School Standards and Framework Act 1998 defines ‘broadly Christian’ to mean that it should 

‘not be distinctive of any particular Christian denomination’.  This does not apply, however in Church 

schools in which collective worship is defined by the Trust Deed. Not every act of collective worship is 

required to be Christian, provided that ‘taking any school term as a whole’ most are. 

 

Page 20



9 
 

Whose responsibility is it? 

In community or foundation schools without a religious character, the arrangements for collective 

worship are the responsibility of the Headteacher after consultation with the governing body.  In 

foundation schools with a religious character or voluntary schools, the arrangements for collective 

worship are to be made by the governing body after consulting the head, and must be in line with the 

schools’ Trust Deed or Diocesan guidelines in the case of church schools. SACRE’s responsibilities include 

the monitoring and support of collective worship in county schools. 

Withdrawals 

In accordance with legal requirements, parents have the right to withdraw their children from acts of 

collective worship on religious grounds.  Parents should make their wishes known to the Headteacher 

who will ensure that any pupils who are withdrawn are appropriately supervised while the act of collective 

worship takes place.   Pupils can be withdrawn wholly or partly from acts of collective worship only by 

parents.  Schools should not use this time to withdraw pupils for other activities. 

Determinations 

Collective worship should be appropriate to the family backgrounds, ages and aptitudes of pupils within 

the school.  The legal requirement for collective worship to be ‘wholly, or mainly of a broadly Christian 

character’ is appropriate for most pupils across the country and the county. 

If, in the opinion of the Headteacher, the requirements for ‘broadly Christian’ worship is inappropriate for 

the whole school, or a group within the school, an application may be made to the SACRE for a 

‘determination’.  This will allow for acts of collective worship according to a religion other than Christianity 

where this is more appropriate. 

Where a determination is granted by the SACRE, the requirement for the school to provide daily collective 

worship remains; it is only the ‘broadly Christian’ nature of this worship which is ‘lifted’ or ‘modified’.  (For 

further guidance see Circular 1/94) 

 

When is it assembly and when is it collective worship? 

 

Assemblies can incorporate collective worship, but there is a distinction between the two.  A report on 

sporting achievements may come under ‘assembly’ but using the pupils’ sporting achievements to explore 

and reflect on human potential, determination, loyalty, courage could be the stimulus for a ‘worshipful 

response’ and therefore could constitute collective worship. 

 

It is helpful to establish some ritual for 

marking out collective worship from assembly 

– perhaps by involving pupils in lighting a 

candle or playing music. 

 

School notices should be separate from an act 

of collective worship and these are better 

dealt with at the beginning rather than at the 

end.  This enables pupils to continue to reflect 

on the essence of the act of worship as they 

leave the hall to continue with other school 

activities. 

 

 

  

  
Painted stone sculpture: 150 stones of kindness, for 
the value of kindness, Year 5 Class Assembly. 

Page 21



10 
 

What makes a good act of collective worship? 

 

What some secondary school pupils had to say . . . 

A group of 14 year old pupils from a school with a well established daily act of worship were asked what 

they thought made a good act of collective worship. These were some of their comments: 

• “When it involves the pupils” 

• “When you feel part of worship” 

• “When there is strong eye contact between the person leading the worship and the audience” 

• “A talk about a topic that is interesting or in the media at the moment” 

• “Something that is funny and useful.” 

Delivering collective worship – Chris Wright 

 

From a Secondary school audit: 

Secondary pupils said: 

• better collective worship involved pupil participation of some sort, mostly because these were livelier 

and more fun than being talked to for a long time; 

• they could remember collective worship with lively input and participation without any recollection of 

the intended message; 

• they sometimes recognised the morals being put across - ideas such as truth, friendship, trust, judging, 

forgiveness, respect, fairness etc. 

• they recall many with themes on bullying but were sceptical as to their effect on bullies; 

• there was little enthusiasm for singing of any sort - too embarrassing!  The only suggested way of 

introducing singing was with a decent group of musicians making up a band, and singing up-to-date 

songs or hymns. 

 

Clearly to deepen the impact of collective worship, there are things to do! 

What OFSTED has to say . . . 

“Characteristics of the best acts of worship included: 

• a good variety of stimuli including drama, music, literature, artefacts and pictures, which captured and 

sustained the attention of pupils of all ages; 

• relevant content which promoted the spiritual growth and development of the pupils; 

• questioning which elicited thoughtful and extended responses; 

• opportunities for quiet reflection as well as prayer; 

• and the involvement of the pupils in the 

planning and presentation of worship.” 

 
 
 
 
 

Golden Rule Quilt mosaic, created by Year 5 
to share in assembly, interactive and 

participatory assembly.  

Page 22



11 
 

What one respected writer on collective worship suggests makes a good act of collective worship . . . 

1 It has to be worship. 

 Each act of worship should have: 

i) A space in the school building which is conducive to a worshipful atmosphere 

ii) A clear focus on important issues or concepts such as love, forgiveness, peace, meaning and 

values. 

iii) Materials and approaches which connect with the pupils (heart and mind) 

iv) Space for reflection – giving time to think about the issues raised and enabling those who 

want to, to pray. 

v) A feeling that this time is somehow special, out of the ordinary, has a sense of occasion. 

 

2 Plenty of participation… both active and passive, by pupils and adults.  This is a time for building up 

the sense of community and promoting the ethos of a school.  It is clearly important therefore, that 

staff as well as pupils are in attendance. 

 

3 Wide variety of approaches… dramatic, readings, stories, music, dance, silence, reflections, songs, 

hymns, prayers, mime, visual images and artefacts that could used as a focus for worship. 

 

4 Variety of leaders… including visitors from outside the school – local people from faith and 

community groups, representatives of charitable activities, school governors, parents… as well as 

different members of school staff. 

 

5 Broadly Christian… this does not necessarily mean Christian prayers, hymns or Bible stories have to 

be used on every occasion – but it will be important to include over the course of each term 

Christian stories, teachings and perspectives and to mark special days and seasons in the Christian 

calendar. 

 

Worship: Making Primary School Worship come alive’ by John Bailey, 

Diocesan Director of Education for Lincolnshire.  Originally published by the Church of England, The 

National Society 1999. 
 

100 pieces of 

Peace art: 

display in the 

St David’s 

cathedral by 

student from 

South Wales 

© Janet 

Ingram   

Page 23



12 
 

 

2: POLICY AND PLANNING 

 

 
Doncaster Standing Advisory Council on Religious Education 

Policy statement on collective worship 

 

The Doncaster Standing Advisory Council on Religious Education (SACRE) believes that collective 

worship time, which is distinct from the curriculum, should provide all pupils irrespective of 

background, members of different faiths or of no religion, with: 

• relevant, meaningful experiences which enrich the education offered through the curriculum 

• opportunities for spiritual, moral, social and cultural development 

• opportunities for responding to the best in humanity’s journeys of faith and belief, including 

voluntary opportunities for worshipping God. 

 

SACRE believes that collective worship can make a significant contribution to the ethos of the 

school by reinforcing and reflecting the beliefs and values which bind the school community 

together.  It can inspire, uplift, celebrate and give a sense of purpose and direction. 

 

SACRE believes that collective worship should model the ideals of inclusion, respecting the 

integrity of all involved. 

 

The Standing Advisory Council for Religious Education for Doncaster, endorses the requirement 

for schools to: 

• comply with the legal requirements 

• produce a school policy for collective worship which takes account of the legal requirements 

and the guidance offered by Doncaster LEA through its SACRE 

• ensure that a school policy is fully implemented 

 

The Standing Advisory Council for Religious Education for Doncaster will, from time to time, in 

accordance with its duty, monitor the provision and practice of collective worship in its schools. 

 
School Policy for collective worship 

A policy statement should describe what actually happens in the school.  The process of developing the 

statement is as important as the written policy itself.  The development of an agreed statement provides 

important opportunities for involving all members of the school community in an exploration of the value, 

purpose and practical arrangements for collective worship. 

 

Developing your school policy statement 

One way of developing a school policy is to address two key questions: 

Why is collective worship important in the life of the school? 

How is collective worship managed, organised and delivered within the school? 
 

 

 

 

Page 24



13 
 

1 Why is collective worship important in the life of the school? 

This might include: 

• a statement concerning the status of the school (including acknowledgement; of legal requirements / 

trust deeds and guidance documents from LEA or Diocese) 

• agreed definitions / descriptions of collective worship; 

• the aims of collective worship; 

• the contribution of other areas of the curriculum to collective worship; 

• the contribution of collective worship to other aspects of the curriculum (including cross curricular 

themes and Spiritual, Moral, Social and Cultural Development, British values) 
 

2 How is collective worship managed, organised and delivered? 

This might include short statements on: 

• management: who is responsible and areas of responsibility; 

• organisation : including details of pupil groupings,  leaders and visitors; 

• planning : including the Scheme/Cycle of Themes; 

• recording, monitoring and evaluation of collective worship; 

• delivery of collective worship; 

• legal rights of withdrawal. 
 

As a policy needs to go before the Governing Body every time it is altered/amended it may be that some of 

the above e.g. the Scheme or the details regarding Leaders/Visitors can be placed in appendices and 

therefore altered more conveniently as they develop.  You may also wish to include in appendices: 

guidelines for visitors, the role of the co-ordinator/team and resource lists or inventory. 

 

 

 

Artwork by Shriya, 10. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 25



14 
 

Principles for planning for collective worship 

 

Good collective worship enriches the life of the school and promotes the development of shared values 

and purpose.  It is worth an investment of time and resources, even - and perhaps especially - in the 

context of a busy school and a demanding workload. 

 

Time 

• Time should be set aside for collective worship in every school, on every day in term time, and this 

should be separate from general school administration or curriculum time.  It is not counted as part of 

the provision for RE, which is a separate curriculum subject. 

• The length of time for an act of worship varies. In most schools pupils will be engaged in collective 

worship for 10 to 20 minutes a day, approximately an hour or more (and in others probably about two 

hours) a week.  That is a great deal of time, more time than is allocated to some subjects in the 

curriculum. 

 

Planning is essential 

• Every school should appoint a person to co-ordinate the organisation and delivery of collective 

worship. 

• To ensure quality in the curriculum, much thought is given to planning, the learning outcomes, 

teaching and learning strategies, and to evaluating success.  The same rigour should apply to collective 

worship. 

• In a busy school week we cannot justify ‘filling in time’ for up to two hours.  Although it will always be 

right to ‘catch the moment’ and deal with something current, newsworthy and of immediate 

importance to the school community, effective planning is needed to ensure that pupils are offered 

quality experiences. 

 

Long term planning 

• Long term planning does not have to be a burden.  Over time, you can build up a cycle of themes 

which can actually save time and effort. 

• Some schools opt for a two-year cycle but will bear in mind continuity and progression within themes.  

It is possible to build a cycle of five years using the suggested themes on pages 11 and 12 alone. 

 

Weekly planning 

• As many schools now organise their collective worship or assemblies around a weekly theme it is 

useful to use a Planning Grid, see appendix A. 

 

Aims and content 

Aims and Objectives 

• What kind of experiences, skills and concepts are to be developed long term? 

• How does worship / the worship theme link into the curriculum, outside events, school life, short 

term? 

Content: Does the content reflect: 

• The school calendar? 

• Local, national and international events? 

• Religious and secular festivals and celebrations? 

• Does the balance reflect the requirements of the law? 

Page 26



15 
 

Suitability:  Is the content suitable for: 

• Whole school gatherings? 

• Age related (e.g. year) groups? 

• Small groups (e.g. classes)? 

Themes and events 

Identify each area of focus (suggested below) using a 

different coloured pen on your grid.  This will enable you 

to see at a glance if your scheme is balanced and if it 

addresses pupil development. 

Areas for focus are: 

• Festivals that the school normally celebrates.  Are 

there any other festivals which you should include?  

This may depend on the faith backgrounds of the 

children in the school. 

• Events which are significant to the school and the 

children.  These might include: new beginnings, leavers’ ceremony, founder’s day, a famous local 

person, local community or charity events. 

• National events which you want the children to be aware of and reflect on, such as One World Week, 

Remembrance Day. 

Page 27



16 
 

• Brainstorm the question: ‘If you could give one child a gift or quality when they leave school what 

would it be?’  Integrate the results into the grid.  Answers might include insight / courage / self esteem 

/ strong sense of identity / resilience / willingness to face 

challenges and many more. 

• Select appropriate themes from the list which will enable 

you to address areas that have not been fully explored, or where 

opportunities have not been fully exploited.  Such themes may, 

for example,  address moral or social development, or national, 

international or local culture, or citizenship or PSHE 

Opportunities for spiritual development should be an important 

aspect of every act of worship.  Attention should be given to 

planning to ensure that pupils are able to consciously or unco-

nsciously make a response – there needs to be a ‘space for 

reflection’. 
 

Staff participation 

• It is a good idea to plan for collective worship as a staff 

team, particularly if all members of staff are given the 

opportunity to lead acts of worship, therefore encouraging 

professional development. 

• There is often anxiety over ‘performing’ in front of peers 

but this should be developmental. Consider addressing a class, a 

year group, a key stage, before addressing the whole school.  

This also gives staff the opportunity of being more than a subject 

or class teacher. 

• The law safeguards teachers (and pupils) who object to 

being present on religious grounds but schools should consider 

carefully what kind of messages they are sending out if staff do 

not attend collective worship. 

Candle Jars / school values

 
In a primary school where many 
assemblies were celebrated in 
class rather than for the whole 
school, children brought large 
empty glass jars to school, and 
decorated them with sharpie 
pens to express their 
understanding of the school’s 7 
chosen values. The class 
decorated four or five jars for 
each o f the values, and took 
pleasure in selecting the right 
jars to hold the tea lights that 
the teacher used, safely, to 
make a central focus for 
reflection or prayer when the 
assembly was related to a 
particular value.  

Page 28



17 
 

3: THEMES, STRATEGIES AND APPROACHES 
Some appropriate themes suitable for development over a week or longer: 
 

• Ability and disability 

• Achievement 

• Adventure 

• Aggression and hate 

• Aims and ambitions 

• All Saints? 

• Ambitions 

• Angels 

• Anti-Racism 

• A time for everyone 

• Autumn 

• Baisakhi 

• Barriers 

• Beauty 

• Beginnings 

• Big and small 

• Big ideas 

• Big questions 

• Black History Month 

• Black Lives Matter 

• Blindness & sight 

• Books 

• Bravery 

• Bridges 

• Building relationships 

• Care and caring 

• Challenge 

• Change 

• Charity 

• Children 

• Choice/Choices 

• Christmas 

• Citizenship 

• Communication 

• Communion 

• Compassion 

• Conservation 

• Courage 

• Creation 

• Creativity 

• Critical thinking 

• Day and night 

• Democracy and 
Government 

• Desert Island Discs 

• Differences 

• Disability 

• Discipleship 

• Discovery 

• Divali 

• Dreams 

• Easter 

• Earth in Future 

• Education and learning 

• Education and life 

• Enjoyment 

• Environment 

• Epiphany 

• Everyday Sexism 

• Experience 

• Exploring the future 

• Exploring the past 

• Faith 

• Fake news and real news 

• Fame 

• Fantasy 

• Film to inspire 

• Finding your way 

• Food for thought 

• Forgiveness 

• Freedom and 
responsibility 

• Freedom and slavery 

• Friends + Friendship 

• Fury and Frustration 

• Futures: sci-fi and new 
worlds 

• Gender 

• Gifts 

• Giving up and going on 

• Global issues 

• God and gods 

• Goddesses 

• God’s world 

• Good and evil 

• Good news 

• Green issues 

• Growing 

• Guiding light 

• Guilt and suffering 

• Happiness is… 

• Hardship 

• Harvest 

• Haves and Have-nots 

• Health 

• Helping Hands 

• Heroes and heroines 

• Hobbies 

• Holidays and travel 

• Homes and families 

• Hope and despair 

• Human vices 

• Human virtues 

• Humility 

• Humour 

• I believe… 

• Illusion and reality 

• Imagination 

• Individual liberty 

• Influences and 

• indoctrination 

• Intentions 

• Invitations 

• Jesus 

• Journeys 

• Joy and happiness 

• Joy and sorrow 

• Justice + fair play 

• Just thinking about it… 

• Key people 

• Language 

• Laws and rules 

• Leaders and leadership 

• Learning 

• Leisure 

• Lent 

• Liberty 

• Life and death 

• Life’s challenge 

• Life’s ups and downs 

• Light 

• Listen 

• Living and loving 

• Living with tomorrow 

• Lord’s Prayer: its use and 
significance 

• Loss and grief 

• Love and hate 

• Love in action 

• Memories and reflections 

• Messages and 
messengers 

• Method and madness 

• Miracles 

Page 29



18 
 

• Mothering Sunday 

• My favourite music 

• My favourite poem 

• Myself and others 

• Neighbours 

• New life 

• News 

• New school year 

• New year resolutions 

• Obedience 

• Obstacles 

• Old age 

• Old and new 

• One world 

• Opportunities 

• Optimism and hope 

• ‘Our Father…’ The Lord’s 
Prayer 

• Parables 

• Parents and children 

• Passover 

• Past and future 

• Peace (and tranquillity) 

• Personal qualities 

• People I have met 

• Pilgrimage 

• Places of worship 

• Planet earth 

• Poetry 

• Power and spirit 

• Praise 

• Prayer and meditation 

• Prejudice 

• Preparations 

• Pride 

• Proverbs and wise sayings 

• Questions and questioning 

• Quietness and silence 

• Quality time for quality 
learning 

• Rebirth 

• Red letter days 

• Relationships and 
sexuality 

• Remembrance 

• Respect 

• Responsibility 

• Reward and punishment 

• Rhyme and reason 

• Riches 

• Rights and 
responsibilities 

• Roots 

• Rule of Law 

• Sacrifice 

• Saving life 

• School and community 

• School and opportunity 

• School and tradition 

• Science 

• Seeing the light 

• Serving and service 

• Signs and symbols 

• Sound of silence 

• Special books 

• Special interests 

• Special people 

• Special places 

• Speech and speaking 

• Stepping stones and 
stumbling blocks 

• Stories from the lives of 
great leaders 

• Stories from the New 
Testament. 

• Stories from the Jewish 
Bible 

• Stories from scriptures 
worldwide 

• Strain and stress 

• Strength and weakness 

• Success and failure 

• Taking risks 

• Talk, talk, talk 

• Tolerance 

• Thanks 

• Thanksgiving 

• The 12 Apostles 

• The Arts 

• The future 

• The good things in life 

• The Lord’s Prayer 

• The message 

• The natural world 

• The outsider 

• The still, small voice 

• The unexpected 

• The world about us 

• Things to avoid 

• Treasures 

• Turning points 

• Us and them 

• Underdogs 

• Upside down world 

• Victory and defeat 

• Views of education 

• Visions 

• Viruses and Vaccines 

• Visits and visitors 

• Voices 

• Voices from the past 

• War and peace 

• Wealth and poverty 

• Wealth, money and riches 

• What God doesn’t 
tolerate 

• What’s it worth? 

• Why are we here? 

• Windows 

• Wisdom 

• Wise and foolish 

• Witness 

• Wonder and awe 

• Words, words, words 

• Work and play 

• Worship 

• Youth 

• Years passing by 

• Zooming along: what did 

we learn about 

community in the 

pandemic? 

• Zzzzz… Boredom and 

interest 

Page 30



DONCASTER GUIDANCE ON COLLECTIVE WORSHIP 19 

 

 

 

Artwork by Zainab, 10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Breaking down a Theme 

One theme can deliver a variety of foci for collective worship.  It is important not to exhaust a theme, but 

equally important not to overlook the opportunities it may offer.  The easiest way to ‘break down’ a 

theme is to brainstorm it with colleagues, selecting those aspects most suitable for promoting school 

issues and concerns, whilst taking account of the ages, ability and aptitudes of the pupils. 
 

For example a brainstorm on the theme of ‘Love’ might include: 

▪ sacrificial love 

▪ love of neighbour 

▪ agape 

▪ erotic love 

▪ love of possessions 

▪ hedonism 

▪ love of God 

▪ unconditional love 

▪ love of self 

▪ love for the Earth
 

Some aspects on this list may not be considered appropriate for a week’s assemblies but others may form 

the basis of a week’s collective worship.  Future planning may therefore use the same theme again but 

explore a different aspect.  Materials from religious and non-religious sources may be used to support the 

theme: we hope the list can make any teacher’s imagination kick into action! 
 

Planning, Recording and Evaluating individual acts of collective worship 

The intention of the planning sheets in the appendix is to provide examples of administratively lightweight 

frameworks, which can provide a valuable tool to ensure that monitoring is effective.  At a glance you will 

be able to see that all legal requirements are met and that appropriate balance is being provided. Using 

similar sheets, will enable leaders to plan and prepare effectively, bearing in mind continuity and 

progression, for they will be able to see which resources have been used and to what effect. 
 

You may need to customise the sheets to meet your own school needs.  A space for the overall aim of the 

theme is useful.  The content should be identified in brief but specific resources should be named so that 

they are not used repeatedly.  One word answers or code letters or symbols will be sufficient to identify 

that opportunities for spiritual, moral, social or cultural development will be provided, or that a particular 

faith or cross curricular theme or dimension will be addressed.  These aspects form the ‘planning’ of the 

acts of collective worship. 

Page 31



DONCASTER GUIDANCE ON COLLECTIVE WORSHIP 20 

 

An ‘evaluation’ column gives the opportunity to record what actually happened - ‘according to plan’; ‘story 

too complex’; ‘children responded well’;  ‘opportunity to address citizenship arose’, etc.  The evaluation 

need not be lengthy but completing this means that the planning sheet has also become a recording sheet 

which may be used to monitor worship at a future date. 

 

Strategies for collective worship 

Any strategies used in a classroom situation can be applied in an assembly/acts of worship.  It is very 

important to vary the strategies that we use so that our pupils do not become bored with the same diet 

and disengage.  Using a variety of strategies enriches the stimulus material and so makes the opportunity 

for response (perhaps worshipful) more likely. 
 

The following is not an exhaustive list of possible strategies, but it may encourage leaders to try 

something new.  As in a lesson, a particular strategy should only be used if it actually enables pupils to 

reach the intended outcome. 

Artefacts 

There are rules of respect and sensitivity to observe when using artefacts, but they are excellent windows 

into a faith. Use them as you would in the classroom – to stimulate interest, to provoke questions, to 

illustrate an aspect of faith, to provide a sensory experience.  An artefact may provide a focus for worship 

but they should not be used only as a ‘display item’ without pupils understanding what it is and its 

significance. Take two out of a feely bag and educate the pupils before you invite reflections. 
 

Bible / Sacred Text 

Looking at the Bible or other sacred text, exploring its significance to believers, may be the focus for acts 

of worship or assembly.  At times it will be useful to read directly from the text, at others it may be 

appropriate to retell a story in your own words.  It is useful to explore concepts and issues found in the 

Bible and other sacred text which have some relevance, relationship or impact on pupils’ lives today. 
 

Buzz Groups / Pairs 

Allowing pupils to talk to each other in assembly / collective worship gives every pupil the opportunity to 

participate.  This may require patience if you have never tried it before, but once the skills and the process 

have been learned and practised, it is a very effective strategy.  Give pupils only 2–3 minutes to talk about 

a given subject (favourite things, why they like their best friend, who they turn to in times of trouble etc.)  

Feedback will include obvious answers which you can supplement.  Their experiences provide the bridge 

to their understanding of the concept you are exploring. 
 

Current News 

As you read the newspapers cut out and preserve ‘gems’ for the future.  If you are addressing a current 

issue use a video clip (BBC’s Newsround) or newspaper cutting.  Remember: 

• you should select a piece that can be easily read, understood, talked about. 

• you will need time to think it through 

• ask yourself:  ‘Why do I want to share this with my pupils?’ - your aim 

• be aware that your selection may or may not directly affect your pupils 

• introduce the article with a general chat about what is happening 

• focus on the article read / show / talk about 

• encourage reflection by asking for their impressions. For example:  What would be their response in a 

similar situation?  What do they think will / should happen next?  Who else should be involved?  Use 

question and answer technique or as you speak, write up questions on OHT, for the pupils to discuss in 

pairs. 

Page 32



DONCASTER GUIDANCE ON COLLECTIVE WORSHIP 21 

• if you have given yourself enough time, you may be able to add another dimension by using a reading / 

quote / religious teaching to further explore or reflect on the issue. 
 

Discussion Groups / Pairs 

This works best with upper KS2 and above, in year or class group assemblies.  Give pupils 3–5 minutes and 

visit each group.  They can discuss issues such as the world we live in, what matters to me, forgiveness 

means... etc.  The discussion itself and/or the points raised may constitute a worship / ‘reflection time’. 
 

Everyday Objects 

Using ordinary everyday objects as visual aids can be particularly effective and it is surprising just how 

many opportunities there are using this particular strategy.  The next time you have an assembly planning 

meeting with other members of staff, bring along 10 items you’ve picked up around the home or 

classroom.  Consider how you would use each item separately in different acts of worship and see what 

you come up with.   

 

Here are three examples and a few objects for you to think about: 

• a bruised apple doesn’t mean it is all bad (good and bad in everyone?) 

• a tube of Smarties contains lots of different coloured shells, same chocolate (one world, lots of 

different people essentially the same?) 

• lots of different sizes and shaped candles, light them and the flame is the same (we may look different 

but our spirit is the same?) 
 

To consider:

• safety pin 

• infant’s dummy (soother). 

• Mirrors 

• The school ‘late book’ 

• balloon 

• party poppers 

• can of drink 

• false beard, disguise 

• soap 

• orange 

• tube of toothpaste 

• contents of a bin

 

Gifts and Talents 

A visitor, a member of staff or a pupil talks or is interviewed about his / her outstanding talent. 

This is not an occasion to explore how we use talents, but an opportunity to recognise positive aspects of 

life and humanity.  Qualities such as courage, determination, perseverance, or things that are good, 

honourable, true, noble, loving, right, pure, just, or things which bring joy, happiness, contentment and 

hope – all deserve acknowledgement and praise. 
 

Guided Imagery 

‘Stilling’ and ‘Relaxation’ are the skills which need building to have success with this strategy.  It is 

extremely effective and powerful, but there are ground rules and if you have never used this strategy with 

a class/group before you need to be careful and do not expect too much.  It can be done in whole school 

assembly but pupils need to have developed the necessary skills for this is a classroom situation first. 
 

The concept of reflection is of course closely associated 
with a mirror or a looking glass. It’s a good idea to build 
up this metaphor with pupils, and help them to discover 
the value of ‘reflection’ – looking within their own 
‘hearts and minds’ to be clear about what matters to 
them. 

 

Page 33



DONCASTER GUIDANCE ON COLLECTIVE WORSHIP 22 

Improvisation 

Most pupils will be happy to volunteer at primary level, but this tends to lose its appeal with some pupils 

once they enter secondary school.  A stock of costumes, hats, masks etc. for them to wear whilst the 

‘story’ is told does enhance the activity.  Pupils will take their ‘cue’ from your structured narrative. 
 

Music 

This in not only useful for creating atmosphere when pupils are entering or leaving the assembly hall or 

room. It can be used to great effect to explore concepts and themes.  As music is very important to youth 

culture there is a danger that your audience may not consider your choice of music as contemporary.  It is 

a good idea to involve the pupils in music choices and presentation. 
 

Posters 

Use as you would in a classroom, on a whiteboard or screen – including: What does the image say to you?  

What did the artist intend?  What is being said?  Why is this image important and to whom?  Encourage 

pupils to consider, reflect on and think about the issues raised through the poster. 
 

 

Poetry and Prayer 

Use either children’s own prayers or poems or some of the good examples available.  Many poems are not 

only humorous but address issues of concern for today. The NATRE website’s ‘Spirited Arts’ section 

(www.natre.org.uk/spiritedarts) has hundreds of great examples. 

 

Power Point / Prezi / Presentation tools for the big screen 

You don’t have to have a PowerPoint for an assembly! But a good one is valuable. PowerPoint 

presentations can offer a less threatening ‘introduction’ to leading assemblies as you need to rely less on a 

‘live’ presentation.  Sequences of slides, together with reflective music, with an occasional word screened 

to encourage reflective thought can be enriching. Presentation software might tell a story, bring in a song, 

use a news ite, clip from a film or be useful in one hundred other ways. 
 

Pupils as leaders 

Work with pupils as part of a presentation team, or as their director, or simply as their facilitator.  Given 

ownership of what they are going to talk about / present, pupils will often respond very positively.  They 

may feel more confident in front of their class or own year group rather than the whole school. 
 

Puppets 

Can be as elaborate or as simple as you choose to make them, including using people, paper bags and 

shadow puppets. 
 

Reflection Diary 

Useful for older primary and secondary pupils in group assemblies / collective worship.  Each pupil keeps a 

diary and writes their thoughts in it, based on a focus for reflection.  This is private, only to be shared with 

the teacher, and therefore great care needs to be taken with confidentiality and security. 

(Acknowledgements to Michael Beasley ‘Space for the Spirit’) 
 

Story 

Use a good story to symbolise or illustrate an issue or a point, (a modern parable) for example, to explore 

the nature of God.  Stories can be told in so many ways and it is worth trying out a few methods – using 

role play, puppets, masks, straight reading from a book, or dramatic retelling using your own words.  If 

you think some key words might not be understood – explain them before you begin the story. 
 

 

Page 34

http://www.natre.org.uk/spiritedarts


DONCASTER GUIDANCE ON COLLECTIVE WORSHIP 23 

Stunts 

These should not be overdone or the element of surprise will be lost.  Set something up that comes as a 

complete surprise.  You may consider following this up with a simple reflection rather than an elongated 

elucidation. For example: cutting off the headteacher’s tie to illustrate ‘Is seeing believing?’ or a member 

of staff “heckles” over something – dealing with conflict. 
 

Tableau 

Position pupils in a ‘frozen’ position to illustrate a scene from a story or a particular situation.  If you wish 

characters can ‘unfreeze’ to tell you who they are, what it happening to them, where they are and how 

they are feeling. 
 

Toys 

Use children’s toys to help illustrate a story or to explore a particular concept.  These are particularly 

useful for younger children but baby toys may be equally appropriate props in the secondary school, given 

the right circumstances.   Pupils easily relate to toys and they are good aids for understanding.  For 

example, a jig-saw with a piece missing – life is not complete for some people without their religious life; 

teddy bears – special friends you can tell anything to, like prayer to God. 
 

Values 

It is a central focus of good collective worship that story, wisdom sayings and personal experience are 

used by assembly leaders to highlight the kinds of values which the school promotes, including for 

example the British values of tolerance, respect, individual liberty, democracy and the rule of law.  

As pupils grow up, the situations where values conflict with each other are a fruitful area for investigation 

and thinking. Exploring values presents pupils with opportunities for personal reflection on their own 

commitments, attitudes and behaviour. 
 

Visitors 

As with any visitor, clear guidance should be given as to what is expected of them.  They need to know 

what support they can expect from the school too, and what the constraints are. If you ask a visitor to 

lead one assembly in a series of five on the same theme, ensure that they know what else is being done so 

that they do not duplicate.  Do not overdo the charity requests for fund-raising. 
 

Video 

Depending on your theme, select any video which will illustrate your point.  Use ‘sensory deprivation’ 

(listen to the dialogue with covered screen or watch the scene without the sound) to focus on a particular 

aspect.  Or select a clip which you can talk about / discuss.  For example, there are numerous scenes in ‘Toy 

Story’ which cover many dimensions for SMSC development. 

 

 
Creating the right atmosphere and attitude 

 

The purpose of this guidance is to support Doncaster schools in developing quality acts of collective 

worship.  Planning obviously plays an essential role in this but to ensure quality we must create the ‘right 

atmosphere’ and the ‘right attitude’.  The right atmosphere will aid pupils’ ‘feel good’ factor and with a 

positive attitude towards assembly and collective worship pupils are more likely to respond in a positive 

way – a way which could be considered by any one faith group or many as being ‘worshipful’. 

 

Page 35



DONCASTER GUIDANCE ON COLLECTIVE WORSHIP 24 

Creating the right atmosphere 

Space 

• Is there adequate space so that the pupils do not feel claustrophobic or feel that their ‘personal space; 

is being invaded? 

• How do you make a large space feel inviting, secure and welcoming? 

• If the room or hall is multi-functional ensure that it ‘changes’ to make the space more special for 

worship. 

Seated or standing? Chairs or floor? 

• Are pupils expected to stand, sit on chairs or sit on the floor?  Standing for the duration will affect the 

pupils’ ability to see what is going on at the front and they are more likely to become restless.  Sitting 

on the floor may be acceptable to younger pupils, but older pupils often feel it is undignified and 

resent having their clothes dirtied. Can all pupils have a seat, or a place on a bench? Probably best. 

Acoustics 

• The quality of ‘sound’ can be affected by a number of factors, including the size of the room, and its 

furnishings.  Meeting in a gym hall, or having a kitchen adjacent to where you meet also affect the 

quality of sound and pupils’ ability to hear clearly. 

Vision 

• Can all pupils see the leader and worship activities clearly?  Sometimes the arrangement of seating 

makes this particularly difficult. 

• Consider changing the way seating is arranged if you have a particularly long hall – pupils at the back 

are more likely to feel excluded from the activities because they cannot see (or hear) clearly. 

Punctuality 

• Pupils become restless when they are waiting for long empty minutes until all of the school are 

assembled. 

• If you have a large school population, which is spaced out, consider staggering the time pupils are 

expected to leave their classrooms to meet in the hall, and open up more than one entry into the hall. 

• Ensure that all staff are aware of the importance of this and that they release pupils for assembly on 

time. 

Focus for worship 

• Provide a focus for the worship activities.  This may change daily or weekly or take the form of a 

permanent piece of artwork on the wall. 

• Use display space available for prayers, prose, quotations and artwork of a spiritual, reflective nature. 
 

Creating the Right Attitude 

A worthwhile experience 

• As professionals we have to ensure that we are providing valuable experiences for our pupils and 

making the most of time we have available to us. 

• Are we providing valuable experiences? 

• Are we taking into account the various backgrounds of pupils in the worship activities we provide? 

• Are we ensuring that the act of ‘collective’ worship is ‘inclusive’? 

• Addressing issues which are meaningful and relevant to our pupils will encourage them in feeling that 

we are offering worthwhile experiences in collective worship. 
 

Pupil comfort 

• If pupils are comfortable, sitting not standing; not having to worry about their bags and coats; not 

having their personal space invaded, they are more likely to become engaged in the worship activities 

taking place.  Those present who do not wish to become engaged with the activities are less likely to 

become restless and spoil the occasion for others. 

Page 36



DONCASTER GUIDANCE ON COLLECTIVE WORSHIP 25 

 

Pupil ownership 

• Involving pupils in the planning and delivery of acts of worship is very important.  It increases 

motivation, promotes self esteem, enhances their understanding and opportunities for spiritual 

development. 
 

Positive experience 

• Ensure that you are offering ‘positive experiences’ even though some elements may be challenging. 

• Delivering and address on the environment and using it as a stick to beat the pupils with over the state 

of litter in the school yard is not a positive experience! 

• Any matters of discipline should be dealt with at another time, allowing clear reflection on the focus of 

the assembly/act of collective worship. 

 

Staff presence 

• The law safeguards teachers (and pupils) who object to being present on religious grounds but 

schools should consider carefully what kind of messages they are sending out if staff do not attend 

collective worship. 

 
 
 
 
 

This advert for the Catholic SVP society is 
only one of many that can stimulate thinking 

about action for justice. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Classroom worship 

 

As long as there is a ‘daily’ act of collective worship, schools may organise this however they wish.  Whole 

school assembly is not always possible because some schools have problems accommodating large 

numbers of pupils.  But neither is whole school worship always desirable – there are merits in holding year 

group and key stage assemblies/collective worship. Here, particular issues, relevant to the age group or 

curriculum can be explored. 

Classroom acts of worship too have their value 

They should: 

• be planned for, and the same ground rules apply to it as with other acts of worship 

• teachers should try to create the right atmosphere and the right attitude.  Consider ways in which you 

can ‘mark’ this time as ‘special’ in the classroom. Do you play some music, perform a relaxation or 

stilling exercise, light a candle, develop a routine or liturgy? 
 

They should not be: 

• seen as an odd five minutes to be slotted into the day at a convenient time 
 

 

 

Page 37



DONCASTER GUIDANCE ON COLLECTIVE WORSHIP 26 

Classroom worship can: 

• provide opportunities to extend the way pupils respond to the stimulus provided. 

• enable pupils to be involved creatively in making  music, dance, movement, art work, writing of prose 

and poetry. 
 

Thought for the day approaches to collective worship 

This format, so familiar to those who listen to radio is a useful tool that is used in many schools. A 

committed religious or non-religious person talks briefly on a subject about which he/she has an opinion – 

a worked out reflection on an aspect of life.  It may be humorous, may include the ups or the downs of life, 

happy or sad times  - but it is almost exclusively centred around 

one main point.   It does not leave the listener feeling 

depressed, anxious or guilty.  It should be wide reaching and 

should always aim to be a spiritual reflection and not just a 

current affairs slot. 
 

Visitors 

As with any visitor, clear guidance should be given as to what is 

expected of them.  They need to know what support they can 

expect from the school and what constraints there are. The 

following pages contain examples of guidance given to visitors 

invited to lead collective worship in a community secondary 

school and in a Church of England Primary school.  These could 

be adapted to meet the needs of your own school. 

 

  
Clo-Dean: “My cup of 
peace has a splash or 
harmony, a spoonful of 
respect and a lot of 
kindness in it.” 

Page 38



DONCASTER GUIDANCE ON COLLECTIVE WORSHIP 27 

 

4. School Collective Worship Policy: Visitors 
 

Expectations 

Visitors invited to lead collective worship should be made aware that: 

• collective worship is  non-denominational in county schools; must be ‘wholly or mainly of a broadly 

Christian character’;  and reflect the religious traditions of the United Kingdom. 

• School assembly is not an opportunity for any kind of coercion. An evangelistic or proselytising 

presentation by groups of whatever faith or life-stance perspective will not be suitable or acceptable. 

Schools do well to make sure this does not happen; 

• speakers can encourage pupils to reflect and consider ideas presented to them, but these must be 

contextualised ( i.e. ‘Christians believe…’ ‘Atheists think…’ rather than ‘This is the case…’) 

• space should be allowed for the process of reflection, but pupils should not be put under pressure to 

accept or reject faith viewpoints.  Calls for commitment to a religious viewpoint are not appropriate. 

 

Visitors should: 

• present their acts of collective worship with care and sensitivity, but also in a dynamic and compelling 

way; they should not be dull! 

• bear in mind the age, interests and aptitude of the pupils they are addressing, avoiding inappropriate 

language or references to materials such as films and TV programmes that are not suitable to that age 

group. 

 

Practicalities:  Some questions to consider 

Before the day: 

• What is the theme of the assembly? 

• Is this part of a wider theme or a one-off? 

• If it is linked to previous assemblies what has been covered so far? 

• What age group is to be addressed? 

• Does anyone need an outline in advance? 

• What equipment will be needed?  Who should the visitor contact in advance about this? 

 

On the day of the assembly: 

• Who will be the contact point for visitors?  How will they be able to get in touch at the last minute in 

case of emergency? 

• Where should the visitor park?  Where should they sign in?  Who will meet them? 

• Where will the assembly take place?  What are the acoustics?  Will they need a microphone? 

• Is the required equipment available?  Who has responsibility for this?   (Computer, projector, sound 

system, microphone, mysic, interactive white board; stage for drama; lighting etc) 

• How do pupils enter for assembly?  Will the speaker be present already or enter later?  Who will 

introduce the speaker?  Who will thank the visitor and conclude the collective worship? 

 

After the assembly 

• Who will write to thank the visitor and offer feedback to them?  What about offering an expenses 

claim form? Schools may feel they are poor or strapped for resources: religious visitors may be more 

so! 

 

Page 39



DONCASTER GUIDANCE ON COLLECTIVE WORSHIP 28 

Example of Guidance for Visitors 

 

Collective Worship at our school 

 

Guidance for Visiting Speakers 

 

Thank you for agreeing to speak to our students in an act of collective worship. 

You agreed to come in on ……………………………… to address Year …... students. 

The theme for the collective worship is ……………………..  The acts of collective worship leading up to your 

visit will be covering the following themes …………………………………… 

 

Equipment: 

If you need any particular equipment for your talk, please let …………. know by…………. 

 

Arriving in school 

When you arrive at school please follow signs for reception and visitor parking.  Please sign in at Reception by 

……………..  You will be met there by two students who will show you to the hall you will be using so that 

you can set up as necessary, and then take you to meet the member of staff responsible for the day’s 

assembly: ………………………………..…………… 

 

Times of assemblies 

Assembly begins at …….….. and finishes at …………….  Students will enter in silence, with music playing as 

they do so and sit in rows in their tutor groups.  Tutors accompany their groups. If you would like particular 

music to be played, please let ………… know by…….. and bring it with you.   Notices will be given at the 

beginning of the assembly, but there is a clear demarcation between such school business and the collective 

worship you will be leading.  You will have a full fifteen minutes. 

 

Student participation 

Students are accustomed to ending collective worship with a moment of reflection, with a prayer, perhaps, to 

which they may respond as individuals.  They are not accustomed to singing hymns.  You may like to challenge 

this tradition, but if you do you are a braver person than most! 

 

Legal requirements 

The legal requirements for collective worship in county schools are that over any school term the majority of 

acts of collective worship should be ‘wholly or mainly of a broadly Christian character’.  This clearly is not the 

requirement for every single act of collective worship.  However, they: 

• should reflect the broad traditions of Christian beliefs; 

• should not be distinctive of any Christian denomination; 

• need not contain only Christian material. 

 

Legal guidance makes it clear that the aim should be to provide worship which is capable of uniting the school 

community around a core of shared values, though these values are to have a religious – and in the main a 

Christian - point of reference,  not only a moral or social focus. 

 

Worship? 

Collective worship, as defined by successive Education Acts and DES Circular 1/94, is really a celebration of 

worth .  This is different to corporate worship, which involves willing submission to a divine being together with 

others sharing the same belief, as part of a way of life. School worship is a way of reflecting and celebrating 

the human spirit, making use of the insights of the religious traditions in this endeavour.  In this country the 

insights of Christianity are deemed to be of major importance, but those of other major world religions (an 

non religious life stances) are also seen to be valuable. 

 

Page 40



DONCASTER GUIDANCE ON COLLECTIVE WORSHIP 29 

The 1994 guidance includes a clause which says that collective worship should ‘be concerned with reverence 

or veneration paid to a divine being or power’.  This means that those who believe in God may have the 

opportunity to respond personally.  It also means that as pupils reflect on issues of life and death the 

possibility of a ‘divine being or power’ might be the focus for reflection.  Suggestions of this kind should be 

contextualised, i.e. ‘some people believe….’ etc. 

 

In view of these legal requirements it is important to recognise that school worship is not the same as that in a 

church, mosque or temple service, or an evangelistic campaign.  Whilst pupils may be challenged to reflect on 

spiritual and moral issues, there cannot be any compulsion for them to accept a particular faith stance, or 

indeed any non-faith stance or ideology.  There should be no ‘calls to commitment’! 

 

Student Participation 

Pupils respond well to collective worship when they are able to participate – they should not simply be passive 

recipients. They prefer lively, interesting, clearly audible and well-constructed presentations.  Contemporary 

references are often helpful but must be age appropriate. 

 

We look forward to seeing you 

 

Your contact for this assembly is…………………………………  Last minute or urgent contacts please speak 

to the office staff  (tel:……………  ….. email:……   ………………….) 

 

Page 41



DONCASTER GUIDANCE ON COLLECTIVE WORSHIP 30 

5.  MANAGEMENT ISSUES 

Roles: 

The role of the head teacher 

In community or foundation schools without a religious character, it is the overall responsibility of the 

Headteacher in consultation with the Governors to ensure that legal requirements are met and that 

quality collective worship is taking place in the school. 

 

The role of the governing body 

• Governors should be aware of their legal responsibilities in regard to collective worship taking account 

of the requirements of the Education Reform Act 1988/Education Act 1996 and the School Standards & 

Framework Act 1998.  In foundation schools with a religious character or voluntary schools, the 

arrangements for collective worship are to be made by the governing body after consulting the head, 

and must by in line with the schools’ Trust Deed or Diocesan guidelines in the case of church schools. 

• Governors must be familiar with all documentation regarding collective worship issued on their behalf 

and may be actively involved in the process of collective worship Development in the school. 

• Governors should ensure that collective worship is appropriately reviewed as part of the Whole School 

Development Plan. 

• In Voluntary Aided or Controlled Schools, Governors are responsible for appointing a Section 23 

Inspector for the inspection of collective worship and are advised to consult the Diocese on this 

matter. 

 

The role of the collective worship co-ordinator or team 

The role of the collective worship co-ordinator/team will vary depending upon the individual needs of the 

school.  In some cases they will be solely responsible but may at times involve other members of staff or 

professionals. 

 

Duties may include the following: 

• assisting the Governors and Headteacher to carry out their legal responsibilities with regard to 

collective worship 

• reporting to the Governors and Headteacher on matters of concern and development 

• communicating with members of the school community regarding the significance and content of acts 

of collective worship 

• ensuring that there is a development plan for collective worship which may at times form part of the 

Whole School Development Plan. 

• developing  and maintaining documentation for the effective planning, recording, monitoring and 

evaluating of acts of collective worship. 

• developing and maintaining effective procedures for planning, recording, monitoring and evaluating 

acts of  collective worship. 

• being responsive to the needs and views of other members of the school community. 

• developing the resources available for collective worship including new and relevant books, posters, 

visual aids, artefacts, music, visitors, leaders. 

  

Page 42



DONCASTER GUIDANCE ON COLLECTIVE WORSHIP 31 

 

MANAGING COLLECTIVE WORSHIP – KEY ACTIVITIES 

i) Reviewing 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Statutory 
requirements 

 

School 
prospectus and 

policy 
statement 

 
Collective worship 
policy statement 

Audit existing 
provision 

 
What are we 

currently 
providing? 

 
What needs 

developing in 
order to improve 

provision of 
quality collective 

worship 

 

What do we need 
to do in the short 

and medium 
term to make up 

any shortfalls 

 

 

Do we have clear and 
useful …. 

 
CW Policy statement setting out a 

clear educational rationale for 
collective worship, agreed aims and 
objectives, strategies and resources? 

 
Long term planning to take account 

of special days/annual events? 
 

Termly and weekly planning to 
ensure collective worship is well 

structured, appropriate to the needs 
of the pupils, encouraging reflection 

and participation? 
 

Manageable means of recording and 
evaluating collective worship 

activities? 
 

Details of staff responsibilities? 

 

Collective 
worship 

Development 

Plan 

 
Monitoring 

 
Evaluation 

Page 43



DONCASTER GUIDANCE ON COLLECTIVE WORSHIP 32 

 

ii) Auditing Collective Worship 

 

Collective Worship Co-ordinator’s Audit: Twenty Questions 

1 Does your job description describe your duties and opportunities fully? 

2 How would you outline your main responsibilities? 

3 To what extent are colleagues involved in the development of collective worship? 

4 Do you have any non-contact time to fulfil your responsibility? 

5 Is there an opportunity to support colleagues, and co-ordinate teachers’ planning? 

6 What are your current priorities for the development of CW 

- In terms of resourcing? 

- In terms of content? 

7 Is collective worship a current priority within the school development plan? 

8 How do you monitor the quality of provision and delivery? 

9 What systems of planning, recording and evaluation are in place? 

10 Do you have a separate allocation of funds for resources? 

11 What have you been able to spend over the past two years 

12 Is the accommodation for CW appropriate and have efforts to create the right 

atmosphere been successful? 

13 How much time is allocated each day for CW and is the timing within the school day 

effective? 

14 Have there been opportunities for in-service training over the past two years? 

15 Do visitors contribute in any way? 

16 How do you keep yourself and colleagues abreast of new developments and evaluate new 

approaches? 

17 How do you liaise with other agencies? 

18 How do you promote parental interest and understanding? 

19 Are there any tasks relating to CW which you would like to take up but are unable to do at 

the moment? 

20 Do you ask pupils what they think about collective worship and reflect on the impact it has 

on participants? 

Page 44



DONCASTER GUIDANCE ON COLLECTIVE WORSHIP 33 

How are we doing? – checking up and making it better 

 

In a maintained school, it is the overall responsibility of the Headteacher in consultation with the 

Governors to ensure that legal requirements are met and that quality collective worship is taking place in 

the school. 

 

In Voluntary Aided and Voluntary Controlled Schools it is the overall responsibility of the Governors in 

consultation with the Headteacher to ensure that legal requirements are met and that quality collective 

worship is taking place in the school.  This may be delegated to the Headteacher, collective worship Co-

ordinator or worship team. Those responsible will ensure that acts of worship are in accordance with the 

Schools Trust Deed and should be consistent with the faith and practice of the Church of England. 

 

In order to ensure that adequate monitoring of collective worship takes place the following questions 

need to be addressed. 

1 Is the monitoring of collective worship part of the School Development Plan? 

2 Is the monitoring/improvement of collective worship of importance to the Governing body and 

therefore an item on their agenda? 

3 Is the Headteacher/Worship Co-ordinator /Worship team the most appropriate person /people to do 

the monitoring? 

4 How will the monitoring process be used to further develop collective worship? 

 

What is to be monitored? 

The School may have a document on Curriculum monitoring which could be appropriately adapted for 

Collective worship.  In the absence of such a document the following may be considered. 

• Is the documentation for collective worship in place and effective? This will include a collective 

worship Policy Statement, evidence of planning of acts of collective worship, records of each act of 

daily worship, evidence that the quality of acts of worship have been evaluated. 

• Is sufficient time set aside to ensure that monitoring can take place? This may include observations of 

acts of collective worship.  Discussions with those who lead worship i.e. Staff and visitors.  Discussions 

with those who experience worship i.e. pupils. staff, parents, governors and other members of the 

school community. 

• Is the documentation for collective worship consistent with observed practice? 

• Is collective worship adequately resourced in terms of leaders, materials, visual aids etc.? 

Page 45



DONCASTER GUIDANCE ON COLLECTIVE WORSHIP 34 

• Is there a record of, requirement for, Staff development or In-service training? 

• Are the various groupings and environments for collective worship maximising opportunities for 

worship? 
 

Evaluation 

Monitoring will lead onto evaluation – 

how well are we doing? What do we 

need to do to improve?  

 

Illustration: this flag and globe are 

collaged from the comments of 180 

pupils about what they will do to make 

the world a better place, what they 

think of versions of the golden rule 

from different religions and what 

makes them unique. They are each 

about 3m square, and made wonderful 

assembly artefact. 

 

  

Page 46



DONCASTER GUIDANCE ON COLLECTIVE WORSHIP 35 

6: ASSEMBLY AND SCHOOL WORSHIP RESOURCES 

Websites 

A number of websites for resources are 

listed. General sites like Twinkl, TES and 

Pinterest are worth checking, though 

sometimes show amateur levels of 

understanding of religion.  We are not able 

to vouch for everything on these sites: we 

ask schools to take responsibility for what 

you use in your own school. But you might 

like to look at: 

• The BBC offer extensive high quality 

resources and ideas at: 

http://www.bbc.co.uk/schoolradio/subjec

ts/collectiveworship 

• The Christian publisher SPCK offers here 

a wide range of resources, updated 

frequently and free to use: 

www.assemblies.org.uk/ 

• This free-to-download book has many 

clear and practical ideas for values 

assemblies 

https://www.lifesavers.co.uk/docs/Values

ForLifeSavers-Justice.pdf 

• This is a sharing site for primary 

assemblies with lots of free ideas. Quality 

varies 

http://www.primaryresources.co.uk/asse

mbly/assembly 

• This is a subscription site, popular with 

teachers and with a wide range of 

resources: 

http://myschoolassembly.co.uk/ 

• This is a site where free resources are 

shared for assembly: 

http://www.teachingideas.co.uk/subjects/

assemblies 

• https://simplycollectiveworship.co.uk/ is a 

subscription site with a four year 

programme of primary school values-led 

assemblies. 

 

• Many development charities provide 

interesting and exciting materials for 

global awareness and exploring values of 

justice. Excellent examples include 

www.christian-aid.org.uk/ 

https://cafod.org.uk/Education/Primary-

teaching-resources/Primary-school-

assemblies and https://www.islamic-

relief.org.uk/resources/education/ 

• Video clips and free ideas for values 

assemblies are shared at 

https://assemblytube.com/primary-

school-assembly-ideas/ 

• This site has free initial resources and 

then moves to paid subscription: 

https://bigstartassemblies.org/ 

• This is an insightful Catholic site about 

prayer from the De La Salle Community. 

www.prayingeachday.org/ 

• This Christian charity provides 

thoughtful and original ideas: 

www.barnabasinschools.org.uk/assembly 

• This site has both primary and secondary 

ideas for free use. 

http://www.assemblies.org.uk/sec/ 

• This is the Church of England’s entry 

point for thinking about assembly and 

school worship: 

https://www.churchofengland.org/educa

tion/church-schools-academies/collective-

worship.aspx 

• Humanists UK offer support for 

inclusive, nonreligious assemblies: 

https://humanism.org.uk/education/asse

mblies-for-all/ 

 

 

 

 

Page 47

http://www.bbc.co.uk/schoolradio/subjects/collectiveworship
http://www.bbc.co.uk/schoolradio/subjects/collectiveworship
http://www.assemblies.org.uk/
https://www.lifesavers.co.uk/docs/ValuesForLifeSavers-Justice.pdf
https://www.lifesavers.co.uk/docs/ValuesForLifeSavers-Justice.pdf
http://www.primaryresources.co.uk/assembly/assembly
http://www.primaryresources.co.uk/assembly/assembly
http://myschoolassembly.co.uk/
http://www.teachingideas.co.uk/subjects/assemblies
http://www.teachingideas.co.uk/subjects/assemblies
https://simplycollectiveworship.co.uk/
http://www.christian-aid.org.uk/
https://cafod.org.uk/Education/Primary-teaching-resources/Primary-school-assemblies
https://cafod.org.uk/Education/Primary-teaching-resources/Primary-school-assemblies
https://cafod.org.uk/Education/Primary-teaching-resources/Primary-school-assemblies
https://www.islamic-relief.org.uk/resources/education/
https://www.islamic-relief.org.uk/resources/education/
https://assemblytube.com/primary-school-assembly-ideas/
https://assemblytube.com/primary-school-assembly-ideas/
https://bigstartassemblies.org/
http://www.prayingeachday.org/
http://www.barnabasinschools.org.uk/assembly
http://www.assemblies.org.uk/sec/
https://www.churchofengland.org/education/church-schools-academies/collective-worship.aspx
https://www.churchofengland.org/education/church-schools-academies/collective-worship.aspx
https://www.churchofengland.org/education/church-schools-academies/collective-worship.aspx
https://humanism.org.uk/education/assemblies-for-all/
https://humanism.org.uk/education/assemblies-for-all/


DONCASTER GUIDANCE ON COLLECTIVE WORSHIP 36 

Charities: There are many charities which offer 

some assemblies to schools. Search the web for 

examples, including: 

These include The Children’s Society, MIND, the 

Literacy Shed, World Book Day, Christian Aid, the 

Mission Aviation Fellowship, The Diana Trust 

(anti bullying), the Ann Frank Ambassadors and 

many more. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 48



DONCASTER GUIDANCE ON COLLECTIVE WORSHIP 37 

 

Resources for Music and worship in schools 

There are thousands of ways to use music in school worship. Here are some starting points, 

each commended by at least one primary teacher. These are very largely Christian, and 

recommendations from other faiths are welcome, and will be added to this guidance. Inclusion 

of a site in this list is not an endorsement of content, and teachers should make their own 

judgements about the music they use in assembly. 

Fischy Music has hundreds of songs, very singable, well suited to 
the context of plural schools. A subscription service or buy with 
backing tracks and symbols movies using sign language on disc. 

www.fischy.com  

BBC’s offering is well thought out, varied and easy to use. https://www.bbc.co.uk/teach/sch
ool-radio/primary-school-
assemblies-collective-worship-ks1-
ks2/zmsnm39  

Hillsong Kids. Christian musical resources available for sale, well 
suited to primary age groups with lots of songs to choose from. 

https://hillsong.com/kids/  

Aussie singer Colin Buchanan sings about Christianity with 
children. 

https://colinbuchanan.com.au/blo
gs/video  

Bethel Kids do Christian music videos, on their site and some on 
YouTube 

https://bethelmusickids.com/  

BIGSTARTASSEMBLIES – Christianity materials on subscription, 
some free.  

www.bigstartassemblies.org 

Assembly Tube. KS1 & KS2 Primary School Assembly Ideas & 
topics for collective worship 

https://assemblytube.com/primary
-school-assembly-ideas/  

Dawud Wharnsby Ali sings about Islam and for Muslim children. 
Some excellent uses of his material in school assembly. 

https://wharnsby.com/  

Faiths In Tune is the website of SOAS inter faith music, and good 
for links. Not especially for children, but of wide interest. 

https://www.faithsintune.org/  

Scripture music from Jump Start 3 is free to use on YouTube, 
aims to familiarise children with Christian Bible teaching in fun 
ways. 

https://jumpstart3.com/  

I Sing Pop – worship is a site for learning worship songs in high 
energy pop styles, easy to use. 

https://www.isingpop.org/  

Out of the Ark are good for Christian school assembly songs and 
musical involvement 

https://www.outoftheark.co.uk/  

Doug Horley, Christian kids musician, songs with actions are on 
YouTube. 

https://www.youtube.com/playlist
?list=PLGOIQuX191CahA0rWCCy2V
UzKV_rrFG_w  

Kids on the Move free downloads from their website https://www.you 
tube.com/channel/UCqcIv3r3KZGV
25qn5KqjqLg  

Christian School Resources | Lift the Lid | Christianity Education 
Resources 

https://www.liftthelid.org.uk/  

Story Keepers: animations of stories about the first Christians. 
Many episodes. 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?
v=m-vNpyavrfc&list=PLDe36Q-
xwIKJgyzEinRi8n5zk-7VM4XQ2  

 

 

Page 49

http://www.fischy.com/
https://www.bbc.co.uk/teach/school-radio/primary-school-assemblies-collective-worship-ks1-ks2/zmsnm39
https://www.bbc.co.uk/teach/school-radio/primary-school-assemblies-collective-worship-ks1-ks2/zmsnm39
https://www.bbc.co.uk/teach/school-radio/primary-school-assemblies-collective-worship-ks1-ks2/zmsnm39
https://www.bbc.co.uk/teach/school-radio/primary-school-assemblies-collective-worship-ks1-ks2/zmsnm39
https://hillsong.com/kids/
https://colinbuchanan.com.au/blogs/video
https://colinbuchanan.com.au/blogs/video
https://bethelmusickids.com/
http://www.bigstartassemblies.org/
https://assemblytube.com/primary-school-assembly-ideas/
https://assemblytube.com/primary-school-assembly-ideas/
https://wharnsby.com/
https://www.faithsintune.org/
https://jumpstart3.com/
https://www.isingpop.org/
https://www.outoftheark.co.uk/
https://www.youtube.com/playlist?list=PLGOIQuX191CahA0rWCCy2VUzKV_rrFG_w
https://www.youtube.com/playlist?list=PLGOIQuX191CahA0rWCCy2VUzKV_rrFG_w
https://www.youtube.com/playlist?list=PLGOIQuX191CahA0rWCCy2VUzKV_rrFG_w
https://www.liftthelid.org.uk/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=m-vNpyavrfc&list=PLDe36Q-xwIKJgyzEinRi8n5zk-7VM4XQ2
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=m-vNpyavrfc&list=PLDe36Q-xwIKJgyzEinRi8n5zk-7VM4XQ2
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=m-vNpyavrfc&list=PLDe36Q-xwIKJgyzEinRi8n5zk-7VM4XQ2


 

Planning Grid Examples 

Primary School’s weekly planning sheet 

 

Collective Worship Planner                                                             Week beginning……………………………… 

 

 

 Grouping – 

who is 

there? 

Leadership – who 

is making it 

happen? 

Theme/Content – what 

is going on and why? 

Learning Intentions 

/ SMSCD Links 

Resources 

(Music / Visual 

Aids) 

Children’s 

Involvement 

Evaluation 

 

Monday 

 

       

 

Tuesday 

 

       

 

Wed-

nesday 

       

 

Thursda

y 

 

       

 

Friday 

 

       

P
age 50



 

Examples 

A Week of assemblies on the Lord’s Prayer 
A school might set an objective that seeks to enable all pupils to understand the significance of the Lord’s Prayer in 
Christianity, globally for billions of people and over thousands of years. Here is an outline of a week’s assemblies 
based upon this theme. 

Date and theme Focus for the assembly Suggestions 

Monday:  
Is it important to learn to 
pray? 

• The story of the Lord’s 
Prayer 

• What is prayer? Ideas 
from pupils 

• How do people learn to 
pray? 

• Bible reading from St 
Matthew’s Gospel 

• Examples from pupils of 
what prayer means 

• Diversity: many kinds of 
prayer, and some people 
don’t pray, but reflect  

Tuesday: 
Praying all over the 
world – and singing the 
Lord’s Prayer 

• How many people use the 
Lord’s Prayer? Billions, for 
thousands of years 

• Different languages: can 
we listen to some 
examples? 

• Listen to three musical 
versions of the prayer in 
different languages from 
different countries 

• Respond with questions 
and music of their own 

Wednesday: 
What did Jesus mean 
when he taught the 
prayer ‘Our Father…’? 

• Line by line, what does 
the prayer mean? 

• Kingdom of God, daily 
bread, temptation, 
forgiveness 

• Older pupils rewrite the 
prayer in simple language 
and read their versions to 
younger pupils 

• A school Christian visitor 
describes what the Lord’s 
Prayer means to them 

Thursday: 
Prayer, worship and 
beliefs  

• God is like a father: what 
does this mean? Teaching 
of Jesus 

• People who believe God 
cares for us all. What 
impact does this belief 
have? 

• What do people from 
different viewpoints think 
and say about prayer, and 
about the Lord’s Prayer? 

• Is God like a Father? Are 
all humans like members 
of God’s family?  

Friday: 
Using the Lord’s Prayer 
and writing our own 
prayers 

• Recap on ways in which 
Christians value, use, sing 
and follow the teaching 
of the Lord’s Prayer.  

• Children – and staff - 
contribute a prayer or 
reflection they have 
written themselves to an 
anthology for use in 
future assemblies 

  

Page 51



 

A Secondary Assembly: The F-Word 

Assembly material from Lat Blaylock 
(REToday) 

This is a hard-hitting assembly on how 
students use swear words and what 
Christian and Buddhist scripture (the Bible 
and the Dhammapada) has to say about our 
language. The aim is to get them thinking 
about the impact of their words on 
themselves and others. 

Preparation 

Before the assembly takes place you could 
conduct a brief survey among pupils and use 
the results throughout your assembly. For 
example, you could ask: 

• how often do you swear a day? 

• would you like to swear less? Why? Is this 
a kind of habit? Abad habit? One that can 
change? 

• what made you start swearing? 

Introduction 

To start: “There is usually at least one word 
which can get a pupil suspended or excluded 
from school”. Tell the pupils that this 
assembly is about the F-word, but you won’t 
say it.  

Point out that in the room there will be four 
groups of people, including the teachers. 
You may want to have the four groups 
displayed on a slide to help students 
remember them. 

In one group, there are all the people who 
never ever use the F-word. They just don't 
say it. 

In the second group there are people who 
very occasionally, perhaps by accident, or 
when they're really furious, or when 
they've suffered something awful, say the 
F-word. 

In the third group there are people who 
use the F-word when they decide that they 
will, as part of the way they talk, for 
emphasis or insult. 

In the fourth group are people who don't 
realise when they say F---.  It slips out all 
the time, peppering their conversation 
without them noticing. 

The groups may not be clear at the borders, 
but almost everyone will fit themselves 
roughly into one of them. 

And it’s interesting that religions such as 
Christianity and Buddhism include in their 
holy writings sayings about the ways in 
which we speak. 

(Buddhist): 'Good is restraint in speech... He 
who is controlled in tongue, who speaks 
wisely, sweet indeed is his speech.' 
Dhammapada 363 

(Christian): 'Rid yourselves of all such things 
as these: anger, rage, malice, slander and 
filthy language from your lips.' Bible, 
Colossians 3:8. 

(It may be appropriate in some settings to 
refer to a different faith as well as Buddhism 
and Christianity – many religions teach their 
followers to speak wisely and without 
insult!) 

Christians and Buddhists want to follow the 
guidance and teaching of their holy books, 
and so they might take note of these words 
in the way they speak. 

You might illustrate the assembly with an 
anecdote of your own about a time when 
bad language got you into deep waters. 

Discussion 

You will need to judge how best this will 
work in your school. A minute of silence to 
reflect individually on the question may be 
more appropriate, but if they can discuss 
sensibly this will be a good element to 
include. 

Ask the pupils one or two questions, and 
give them two minutes to talk in pairs about 
them. This activity in assembly remains 
unusual - we usually tell them to stop talking 
- but it is a simple way of getting everyone to 

Page 52



 

participate, and it's surprising how much 
effect it has. The questions in this instance 
might be one or two from this list: 

• Which of the four groups are you in? 

• How do people feel when they are sworn 
at? (pairs to choose three words that 
describe the feeling) 

• Is it possible to go through your whole 
life without swearing? 

• Does not swearing make you a better 
person, a worse person or no different? 

Reflection 

Ideally for this section, you'll need an electric 
buzzer game: where you have to pass a loop 
of metal along a wire without it touching and 
setting off a buzzer. Have a volunteer out to 
try and complete it. 

One of the problems we face as humans is 
finding the will power to be different. Some 
people would like to swear less but, even if 
they try, they still do it. It's impossible for 
them to get through the day without 
swearing, just like trying to get the loop 
along this wire without setting it off. So how 
do we change if we want to? 

• some people manage it by sheer will 
power and practice 

• others, especially those from a faith 
background, would say that you need a 
greater force at work in you to overcome 
such ingrained habits. 

You might finish the assembly by talking 
briefly about moments when you've found 
your faith or beliefs gives you strength to 
deal with things you want to change. 

Final Challenge 

Finish by asking students to think about 
whether they feel they are in control of their 
swearing or bad language and whether 
they'd like to change their habits. 

Prayer or Reflection: 

I sometimes use this kind of prayer, inviting 
pupils to listen to it, or to join in with the 
‘Amen’ if they wish to. I would use this 
prayer with this assembly: 

“God of words, we pray to you. 

Can you help us to speak the truth, and do it 
kindly. 

Where our words run out of control, or get us 
into trouble, give us your forgiveness 

Teach us to be good speakers.  

Teach us to spread goodness by what we say. 

Amen. 

Page 53



 

Acknowledgements 

Doncaster SACRE would like to thank RE Today for allowing material from Space for Reflection to be 

used extensively in this document and the staff and pupils of Hilborough Junior School in Luton whose 

project to illustrate this booklet provided much of our artwork. 

 

 

 

By Amber, aged 10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

COPYRIGHT NOTE: 

Materials from RE Today Space for Reflection remain the copyright of RE Today but in this form the 

copyright belongs to Doncaster SACRE. 

Thanks for permission from John Bailey to use extract from ‘Worship: Making Primary School Worship 

Come Alive’ on Page 7. 

Copyright Doncaster SACRE and RE Today © 2020 
 

 

 

 

Page 54


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 12th November, 2020.
	4 National Updates from RE Today: Spring 2021 - Lat Blaylock.
	5 RE Today: Collective Workshop Guidance - Lat Blaylock.

